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Mazars LLP

Salvus House

Durham

DH1 5TS

Members of the Audit and Risk Committee and Governing Body

NHS Sunderland CCG

Pemberton House

Colima Avenue

Sunderland

SR5 3XB

13 May 2020

Dear Members

Audit Completion Report – year ended 31 March 2020

We are pleased to present our Audit Completion Report for the year ended 31 March 2020.  The purpose of this document is 

to summarise our audit conclusions. 

The scope of our work, including identified significant audit risks and other areas of management judgement, was outlined in 

our Audit Strategy Memorandum which we presented on 28 January 2020. Since then, the COVID-19 pandemic has had 

significant implications for the UK, including the CCG sector.  We have updated our planning work to understand the 

implications of COVID-19 on our audit and concluded that the original audit risks and other areas of management judgement 

in the Audit Strategy Memorandum remain appropriate. 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, NHSE/I issued a revised reporting timetable for the CCG to prepare its financial 

statements and for the audit to be completed.  We understand the difficult circumstances that the CCG is facing in order to 

respond to the pandemic and would like to express our thanks for the assistance of your team during our audit. 

If you would like to discuss any matters in more detail then please do not hesitate to contact me on 0781 375 2053.

Yours faithfully

Cameron Waddell

Mazars LLP

For and on behalf of Mazars LLP



Purpose of this report and principal conclusions
This Audit Completion Report sets out the findings from our audit of NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (‘the CCG’) for the 
year ended 31 March 2020, and forms the basis for discussion at the Audit and Risk Committee meeting on 19 May 2020. As outlined in 

our Audit Strategy Memorandum, our audit has been conducted in accordance with International Standards of Auditing (UK) and means 

we focus on audit risks that we have assessed as resulting in a higher risk of material misstatement. 

Sections 2 and 5 of this report outline the detailed findings from our audit of the financial statements and our work on the CCG’s 
arrangements to achieve economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  Section 2 also includes our conclusions on the 

audit risks and areas of management judgement in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, which include:

• management override of control; and

• prescribing. 

Status of our work
As we outline on the following page, our work is substantially complete.  Subject to the satisfactory completion of the outstanding work, 

at the time of issuing this report, we have the following conclusions:

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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We anticipate reporting to the National Audit Office (NAO)  that your consolidation data is consistent with 

the audited financial statements. 

We anticipate issuing an unqualified opinion, without modification, on the financial statements.  Our 

proposed audit opinion is included in the draft auditor’s report in Appendix B.

We anticipate having no matters to report in respect of the CCG’s arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

We anticipate issuing an unqualified regularity opinion, meaning that in our opinion, in all material 

respects the expenditure and income recognised in the financial statements have been applied for the 

purposes intended by Parliament.  Our proposed regularity opinion is included in the draft auditor’s report 
in Appendix B. 

Opinion on 

the financial 

statements

Opinion on 

regularity

Value for 

Money 

conclusion

Wider 

reporting

Executive summary Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of 

misstatements
Value for Money 

conclusion
Appendices



We have substantially completed our work on the financial statements and Value for Money conclusion for the year ended 31 March 

2020.  At the time of preparing this report, the following matters remain outstanding:

Status

Green = not considered likely to result in material adjustment or change to disclosures within the financial statements

Amber = potential to result in material adjustment or significant change to disclosures within the financial statements

Red = likely to result in material adjustment or significant change to disclosures within the financial statements

We will provide Members with an update in relation to these outstanding matters in a follow-up letter, prior to signing the auditor’s report. 

Misstatements and internal control recommendations
Section 3 sets out the internal control recommendations that we make, together with an update on any prior year recommendations. 

Section 4 outlines the misstatements noted as part of our audit as at the time of issuing this report.  If any additional misstatements are 

noted on completion of the outstanding work, these will be reported to Members in a follow-up letter.   

Our audit approach
We provided details of our intended audit approach in our Audit Strategy Memorandum in January 2020. We have not made any 

changes to our audit approach since we presented our Audit Strategy Memorandum to the Audit and Risk Committee in January 2020.

Materiality
We set materiality at the planning stage of the audit at £7.935 million using a benchmark of 1.5% of total operating expenditure.  Our 

final assessment of materiality, based on the final financial statements and qualitative factors is £8.048 million, using the same 

benchmark.

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
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Audit area Status Description of outstanding matters

Consideration of service 

auditor reports (SARs)
Green

To be completed when all SARs are received. 

Completion of testing in 

other areas Green
A number of testing areas where work is to be completed, including our work on 

the Agreement of Balances intra NHS exercise.  

Consolidation schedules Green Testing of the consolidation schedules (Whole of Government Accounts).

Review and closure 

processes
Green

Including internal consistency checks, agreeing amendments and post balance 

sheet events. 

Executive summary Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of 

misstatements
Value for Money 

conclusion
Appendices



2. SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS

Set out below are the significant findings from our audit. These findings include:

• our audit conclusions regarding significant risks and key areas of management judgement outlined in the Audit Strategy 
Memorandum;

• our comments in respect of the accounting policies and disclosures that you have adopted in the financial statements. On 
page 7 we have concluded whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the financial reporting 
framework and commented on any significant accounting policy changes that have been made during the year;

• any further significant matters discussed with management; and

• any significant difficulties we experienced during the audit. 

Significant risks and key areas of management judgement
As part of our planning procedures we considered the risks of material misstatement in the CCG’s financial statements that required 
special audit consideration. Although we report identified significant risks at the planning stage of the audit in our Audit Strategy 
Memorandum, our risk assessment is a continuous process and we regularly consider whether new significant risks have arisen and 
how we intend to respond to these risks. No new risks have been identified since we issued our Audit Strategy Memorandum.
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Management override 

of controls

Description of the risk

Management at various levels within an organisation are in a unique position to perpetrate fraud 

because of their ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements 

by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. Due to the unpredictable 

way in which such override could occur there is a risk of material misstatement due to fraud on all 

audits. 

How we addressed this risk

We addressed this risk by: 

• reviewing the key areas within the financial statements where management had used judgement 

and estimation techniques and considered whether there was evidence of unfair bias;

• examining any accounting policies that varied from the Government Accounting Manual;

• testing the appropriateness of journal entries recorded in the general ledger and other 

adjustments made in preparing the financial statements; and

• undertaking cut-off testing around the year-end of receipts and payments.

Audit conclusion

Subject to the completion of outstanding work, our work has provided us with the assurance we 

sought and has not highlighted any material issues to bring to your attention. We have documented 

in section 3 our follow-up of the prior year low priority internal control recommendation in relation to 

journals.

Executive summary Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of 

misstatements
Value for Money 

conclusion
Appendices
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2. SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS (CONTINUED)

Executive summary Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of 

misstatements
Value for Money 

conclusion
Appendices

Prescribing 

accrual

Description of the management judgement

The CCG’s accounts contain estimates.  A material estimate is in respect of prescribing expenditure, which 
is based on NHS Business Services Authority (BSA) profiling and two months in arrears.  

We consider this area of key management judgement  to be an enhanced risk. 

How our audit addressed this area of management judgement

We addressed this risk by:

• testing the prescribing accrual included in the accounts, including comparing the reasonableness of the 

estimate to the outturn for the prior year;

• reviewing the basis upon which the estimate had been made;

• agreement to the BSA notifications; and

• reviewing and considering the assurance we received from BSA (Type II service auditor report). 

Audit conclusion

Subject to the completion of outstanding work, our work has provided us with the assurance sought and 

has not highlighted any material issues to bring to your attention. 

Prescribing for 2019/20 totalled £48.7 million (prior year £47.8 million), including an estimate for the months 

of February and March totalling £8.4 million (prior year £8.2 million). 

Management is required, when making estimates included in the accounts, to consider any additional 

information available relevant to those estimates, right up until the point when the auditor’s opinion is given. 
Therefore we consider the difference between the estimates and the actuals, if they become available prior 

to sign-off. Previously, the March actual has not always been available prior to sign-off.  

Based on the actuals available for February, the CCG’s estimate was only £0.024 million higher than the 
actual.  

We note the CCG’s total estimate of £8.4 million includes £0.2 million ‘contingency’ and £0.1 million in 
respect of estimated Covid-19 costs. 

We will consider the difference between the March estimate and the actual, if it is available, prior to sign-

off.  If the total difference between the estimate and the actual is greater than our triviality level, this will 

need to considered further e.g. if the difference is above our triviality level but below our materiality level 

and management choose not to adjust for the difference, we would report this in our follow-up letter as a 

factual difference.  



Qualitative aspects of the CCG’s accounting practices
We have reviewed the CCG’s accounting policies and disclosures and concluded they comply with the requirements of the Department 
of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019/20, appropriately tailored to the CCG’s circumstances.

Draft accounts were received from the CCG by the deadline and were of a good quality. 

Significant matters discussed with management

Matters discussed with management, over and above our normal challenge of management assertions in respect of the financial 

statements, are detailed below: 

• Coranvirus: we discussed the impact of the pandemic upon the CCG’s arrangements, as well as the value of coronavirus spend 
included in the 2019/20 financial statements. 

• Local risk-share agreement: we discussed the operation of the local risk-share agreement as part of our regularity testing. 

• NHS Shared Business Services (NHS SBS) service auditor report: we challenged management on how they were satisfied they 

had sufficient assurance given the qualification by the auditor of the NHS SBS service auditor report.  This service auditor report 

provides assurance over finance and accounting services provided by NHS SBS.  It was qualified as the service auditor was not able 

to test controls for February and March 2020 as a result of the coranvirus.  We obtained assurance that the CCG had sufficient and 

appropriate compensating controls in place. 

• Other service auditor reports: we discussed with management how they obtained sufficient assurance where other service auditor 

reports were either qualified or control exceptions were reported.  We also discussed the timing of the CAPITA service auditor report, 

which is also considered further in Appendix C Independence. 

• Prescribing: we discussed with management the requirement for them to revisit estimates made in preparing the accounts prior to 

sign-off, to take account of any further information available. 

Significant difficulties during the audit
During the course of the audit we did not encounter any significant difficulties and we have had the full co-operation of management. As 

set out earlier, we understand the difficult circumstances that the CCG is facing in order to respond to the pandemic and would like to 

express our thanks again for the cooperation and patience of your team during our audit. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT FINDINGS (CONTINUED)
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The purpose of our audit is to express an opinion on the financial statements. As part of our audit we have considered the internal

controls in place relevant to the preparation of the financial statements. We do this in order to design audit procedures to allow us to

express an opinion on the financial statements and not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control,

nor to identify any significant deficiencies in their design or operation.

The matters reported are limited to those deficiencies and other control recommendations that we have identified during our normal audit

procedures and that we consider to be of sufficient importance to merit being reported. If we had performed more extensive procedures

on internal controls we might have identified more deficiencies to be reported or concluded that some of the reported deficiencies need

not in fact have been reported. Our comments should not be regarded as a comprehensive record of all deficiencies that may exist or

improvements that could be made.

We have not identified any internal control recommendations in respect of 2019/20.  

We have documented our follow-up of the one prior year internal control recommendation raised below.  This was a low priority 

recommendation (with our recommendations being prioritised into low, medium and high categories). 
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3. INTERNAL CONTROL RECOMMENDATIONS

Executive summary Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of 

misstatements
Value for Money 

conclusion
Appendices

Description of deficiency 

Testing of journals identified several which had been prepared and authorised by the same officers within NHS Shared Business

Services (SBS) on behalf of the CCG. These were all of a clearly trivial value and we obtained assurance there were no other 

journals prepared and authorised by the same officer. 

Our 2018/19 testing showed this remained an issue in 2018/19 for the first three quarters of the year.  However the CCG put in 

place compensating controls for the 2018/19 and NHS SBS also put in place manual controls from January 2019 to address this 

issue. 

Potential effects

Journal controls are key controls for the prevention of misstatement due to fraud or error. The lack of segregation of duties could 

result in fraud or error.

Recommendation

The CCG should again escalate this control failure to SBS to ensure that journals are not prepared and authorised by the same 

officer. 

2019/20 update

At the time of issuing this report, testing of journals processed by NHS SBS is not yet complete, therefore we will provide an update 

to Members on this in our follow-up letter. 



We set out below the misstatements identified for adjustment during the course of the audit, above the level of trivial threshold of £0.241 

million.

Unadjusted misstatements: there are no misstatements that were identified during the course of our audit which management has 

assessed as not being material either individually or in aggregate to the financial statements and does not currently plan to adjust.

Adjusted misstatements: there are no misstatements that have been adjusted by management during the course of the audit that we 

are required to report to you. 

Disclosure amendments

Amendments have been made to the financial statements following our audit, including the areas summarised below:

• Various minor presentational points. 

• Note 3.5 pension costs: update of the narrative and years in this note to reflect the latest actuarial valuation. 

• Note 4 operating expenditure: addition of narrative at the foot of the table to explain the basis, nature and extent of non-audit fee 

work (Mental Health Investment Standard related). 

• Note 12.3 financial liabilities: amendment of £2.7 million between two lines in the disclosure note, due to a mapping error in the 

template (with no impact on the primary statements). 

• Note 17 related party transactions: addition of narrative in respect of the All Together Better Alliance. 

• Remuneration and Staff report.  There have been updates to a number of areas as set out below: 

o Inclusion of narrative in the section detailing the ‘real increase in the Cash Equivalent Transfer Value’ (CETV) recommended by the 

Greenbury guidance to detail the change in the calculation of the CETV in respect of the Guaranteed Minimum Pension adjustment. 

o Inclusion of narrative by the CCG to the foot of the main salaries table to set out a clarification to one person’s remuneration

disclosed in 2018/19. 

o Amendment to the total bandings in the main salaries table in respect of two people, where there was a ‘negative’ pension benefit 

calculation (requirement to disclose as zero where negative pension benefit calculations arise). 

o Amendments to the ‘employer’s contributions to stakeholder pensions’ disclosure in the pensions table for both the current and prior 

year, to exclude NHS pensions contributions. 

o Amendment to the fair pay disclosure to exclude non-executive directors from the calculations. 
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4. SUMMARY OF MISSTATEMENTS
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Our approach to Value for Money
We are required to consider whether the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources.  The NAO issues guidance to auditors that underpins the work we are required to carry out in order to form our
conclusion, and sets out the criterion and sub-criteria that we are required to consider. 

The overall criterion is that, ‘in all significant respects, the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions 
and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.’  To assist auditors in reaching a 
conclusion on this overall criterion, the following sub-criteria are set out by the NAO:

• informed decision-making;

• sustainable resource deployment; and

• working with partners and other third parties.

Significant risk to our Value for Money conclusion

The NAO’s guidance requires us to carry out work to identify whether or not a risk to the Value for Money conclusion exists. Risk, in the 
context of our Value for Money work, is the risk that we come to an incorrect conclusion rather than the risk of the arrangements in place 
at the CCG being inadequate.  
In our Audit Strategy Memorandum, we reported that we had not identified any significant Value for Money risks; we have kept this under 
review, as part of our continuous risk assessment and there is no change to our assessment. 

Overall assessment

We are only required to report to you if we conclude that the CCG has not made proper arrangements.  Our draft auditor’s report 
included in Appendix B states that we have no matters to report in respect of our Value for Money (VFM) work. 

We have provided commentary against each of the sub-criteria, and an indication of whether arrangements are in place in the following 
pages, along with a final overall assessment. 
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5. VALUE FOR MONEY CONCLUSION

Sub-criteria Commentary Matters to report

Informed 

decision-

making

Financial and performance information

NHSE has assessed the CCG as ‘outstanding’.
NHSE has highlighted the importance of continuing to build strong relationships, 

including the development of system wide working to improve health and care 

outcomes, drive improvements in quality, ensure the sustainability of services and 

demonstrate increased efficiency and productivity.

The 2019/20 NHSE annual assessment will not be available until later in 2020, 

however for 2019/20, the CCG has met its control total, delivering an in-year surplus 

of £3.840 million (prior year £0.109 million) and a resulting carried forward surplus of 

£20.209 million (prior year £20.869 million).

The 2019/20 surplus relates to 2019/20 drawdown funding that has not yet been 

utilised by the CCG. NHS England have agreed with the CCG that in return for 

amending the control total this year that the CCG will receive a guaranteed return of 

an additional £4.50 million in 2021/22, in addition to the drawdown confirmed for 

2020/21 of £5.00 million.

Management of risks and a sound system of internal control

The CCG has a comprehensive internal audit programme in place and received an 

overall ‘substantial’ rating again for 2019/20.  

None

Executive summary Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of 
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Value for Money 

conclusion
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5. VALUE FOR MONEY CONCLUSION

Sub-criteria Commentary Matters to report

Sustainable 

resource 

deployment

Effective planning of finances

The CCG again achieved its Quality, Innovation, Productivity, Prevention (QIPP) programme 

target of £10.451 million in 2019/20 (prior year £11.354 million). 

Planning, organising and developing the workforce effectively to deliver strategic priorities

The CCG recognises its workforce is its most valuable asset and never more so in recent 

months.  Its Annual Report, in respect of the Covid-19 outbreak, sets out the changes that 

have been required and highlights the dedication of frontline health and care staff. 

None

Working with 

partners and 

other third 

parties

The CCG’s major areas of transformation for 2019/20 included:  

• the path to excellence programme, phase II; 

• the first year of the new All Together Better Alliance; 

• Primary Care Network development and support; and

• supporting the development of the NE and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) 

and the Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP). 

Working with third parties effectively to deliver strategic priorities and commissioning 

services effectively to support the delivery of strategic priorities

All Together Better Alliance

On 1 April 2019, All Together Better Sunderland formally came into operation as an ‘alliance’ 
of providers and commissioners, working together to join up community health and care 

services and improve health outcomes. It now has formal delegated responsibility for the 

CCG’s budget of approximately £200 million for ‘out of hospital’ care, including all learning 
disability and mental health beds.

The Alliance was set up in shadow format in the prior years and has continued to developed 

during 2019/20. The main Alliance partners include: Sunderland Care and Support (SCAS), 

the local Council, Sunderland General Practice Alliance (SGPA), the local hospital and 

regional mental health trust and the CCG itself. 

The CCG is clear on ensuring that appropriate governance arrangements are put in place to 

facilitate the Alliance’s transformation of out of hospital care

None

Executive summary Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of 

misstatements
Value for Money 

conclusion
Appendices
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5. VALUE FOR MONEY CONCLUSION

Sub-criteria Commentary Matters to report

Working with 

partners and 

other third 

parties 

(continued)

Working with third parties effectively to deliver strategic priorities and commissioning 

services effectively to support the delivery of strategic priorities (continued)

Path to Excellence programme, Phase II

The CCG has continued its partnership in 2019/20 with NHS South Tyneside CCG and 

South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust on the Path to Excellence 

programme, a five-year transformation of hospital healthcare provision across South 

Tyneside and Sunderland. 

Changes made from Phase I have now been implemented, including consolidation of 

strokes care and development of a birthing centre. Phase II will address emergency care 

and acute medicine, emergency surgery and planned care (including surgery and 

outpatients). 

Primary Care Networks (PCNs)

The CCG has six PCNs covering the five localities within Sunderland. Set up in 2019, 

these are key part of the CCG’s strategy to build on the core of current primary care and 
enable greater provision of proactive, personalised, coordinated and more integrated 

health and social care.

Integrated Care Partnerships and Integrated Care System

North East and North Cumbria NHS organisations received confirmation of its Integrated 

Care System (ICS), supported by four Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) in June 2019.  

The formal approval letter acknowledges the track record of delivery on operational 

performance and sets out that NHSE expects to see efforts continuing to address the 

variation in standards across the system. 

The North East and North Cumbria (NENC) ICS aims to bring together local organisations 

to redesign care and improve population health, creating shared leadership and action, 

integrating primary and specialist care, physical and mental health services, and health 

with social care. 

In South Tyneside, Sunderland and County Durham, NHS organisations have come 

together, working with local authorities, to lead and plan care for their population in a 

coordinated way as the Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care 

Partnership (ICP). 

The CCG has worked across three levels of scale in 2019/20:

• Place – populations of circa 150,000 to 500,000 people will be the main focus for 

partnership working between the NHS and local authorities. In these areas, primary 

care networks (providing services to populations of circa 30,000-50,000 people) will 

support collaboration between GP practices, social care, other community based care 

providers and voluntary sector organisations. 

• Integrated care partnerships – populations of around one million (with the exception of 

North Cumbria, which has unique geographical and demographic features), focused on 

collaboration across NHS hospital trusts, to ensure safe and sustainable services.

• Integrated care system – a population of circa 3.1 million people, focused on ‘at scale’ 
activity that achieves efficiencies.

None

Executive summary Significant findings
Internal control 
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5. VALUE FOR MONEY CONCLUSION (CONTINUED)

Evidence Auditor assessment

Outputs by 

statutory 

inspectorates 

or other 

regulators

The CCG was rated as ‘outstanding’ by NHSE in its 2018/19 annual assessment. 
Whilst the outturn assessment for 2019/20 is not yet available, the control total has been met for 2018/19, 

with an in-year surplus being delivered.

Achievement 

of 

performance 

and other 

targets

In its Annual Report, the CCG sets out an analysis of its performance during the year, including a useful one 

page red, amber, green rating against the NHSE oversight framework. Key pressure areas, common to 

many CCGs, include: 

• accident and emergency waiting times; 

• cancer waiting times; and

• referral to treatment (RTT) including waiting list volumes. 

In respect of clinical priority areas, maternity, diabetes, cancer and mental health are areas which have 

been rated as requiring improvement. Delivery of improvements in these areas remains a focus for the CCG 

going into 2019/20. 

The reasons for standards not being met are multi-faced, including demand pressures. Based on our 

knowledge of the CCG, there is no indication that arrangements for commissioning services in these areas 

are inadequate. 

Performance 

against 

budgets and 

other financial 

targets

The CCG achieved its Quality, Innovation, Productivity, Prevention (QIPP) programme target of £10.451

million in 2019/20 (prior year £11.354 million). 

It also met its statutory duty to ensure that expenditure in the financial year did not exceed income, with an 

in-year surplus of £3.840 million (prior year £0.109 million) and a resulting carried forward surplus of 

£20.209 million (prior year £20.869 million). 

The 2019/20 surplus relates to 2019/20 drawdown funding that has not yet been utilised by the CCG. NHS 

England have agreed with the CCG that in return for amending the control total this year that the CCG will 

receive a guaranteed return of an additional £4.50 million in 2021/22, in addition to the drawdown confirmed 

for 2020/21 of £5.00 million.

Impact of the 

pandemic

COVID-19 has presented and continues to present the NHS with arguably the greatest challenge it has 

faced since its creation.  NHS bodies were directed to enact various measures. The CCG has moved 

rapidly to change how it works, both internally and with partners and this has resulted in transformation of 

working practices presenting challenges, but also opportunities to build on for the future. 

In respect of the 2019/20 financial year, the CCG’s governance arrangements have remained appropriate.

The CCG sets out in its Annual Report “As the year came to a close, the NHS both in Sunderland and 

nationally was focused overwhelmingly on protecting and caring for our patients as far as possible during 

the Covid-19 outbreak. Our thanks and admiration go to everyone who is working so hard in immensely 

difficult circumstances”.
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Overall assessment (reality check)

Having gathered evidence in each area we carried out a final ‘reality check’, which included consideration of our cumulative knowledge 
of the CCG and, in particular:

• reports by statutory inspectorates, other regulators and external advisors;

• achievement of performance and other targets; and

• performance against budgets and other financial targets.

We do this to identify anything that would make us reconsider our conclusion.  We did not identify any such matters. 



NHS Sunderland CCG

Pemberton House

Colima Avenue

Sunderland

SR5 3XB

[Date]

Dear Cameron

NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group - audit for year ended 31 March 2020

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of NHS Sunderland CCG for the year ended 31 March 

2020 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the Group Accounting 

Manual.

I confirm that the following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant knowledge and experience (and, 

where appropriate, inspection of supporting documentation) sufficient to satisfy ourselves that I can properly make each of the following representations 

to you.

My responsibility for the financial statements and accounting information

I believe that I have fulfilled my responsibilities for the true and fair presentation and preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the Group 

Accounting Manual and relevant legislation and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted and adopted by HM Treasury.

My responsibility to provide and disclose relevant information

I have provided you with: 

• access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and 

other material;

• additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and

• unrestricted access to individuals within the CCG you determined it was necessary to contact in order to obtain audit evidence.

I confirm as Accountable Officer that I have taken all the necessary steps to make me aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that you, 

as auditors, are aware of this information.

As far as I am aware there is no relevant audit information of which you, as auditors, are unaware.

Accounting records

I confirm that all transactions that have a material affect on the financial statements have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in 

the financial statements. All other records and related information, including minutes of all Governing Body and relevant committee meetings, have been 

made available to you. 

Accounting policies

I confirm that I have reviewed the accounting policies applied during the year in accordance with Group Accounting Manual and International Accounting 

Standard 8 and consider these policies to faithfully represent the effects of transactions, other events or conditions on the CCG's financial position, 

financial performance and cash flows.

Accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value

I confirm that any significant assumptions used by the CCG in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable.

Contingencies

There are no material contingent losses including pending or potential litigation that should be accrued where:

• information presently available indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred at the balance sheet date; 

and

• the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
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Contingencies (continued)

There are no material contingent losses that should be disclosed where, although either or both the conditions specified above are not met, there is a 

reasonable possibility that a loss, or a loss greater than that accrued, may have been incurred at the balance sheet date.

There are no contingent gains that should be disclosed.

All material matters, including unasserted claims, that may result in litigation against the CCG have been brought to your attention. All known actual or 

possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to you and accounted for 

and disclosed in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual and relevant legislation and IFRSs as adapted and adopted by HM Treasury.

Laws and regulations

I confirm that I have disclosed to you all those events of which I am aware which involve known or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, 

together with the actual or contingent consequences which may arise therefrom. We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that 

would have a material effect on the accounts in the event of non-compliance.

Fraud and error

I acknowledge my responsibility as Accountable Officer for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud 

and error. I have disclosed to you:

• all the results of my assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud; and

• all knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the CCG involving:

- management and those charged with governance;

- employees who have significant roles in internal control; and

- others where fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

I have disclosed to you all information in relation to any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the CCG's financial statements communicated 

by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

Related party transactions

I confirm that all related party relationships, transactions and balances have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the 

requirements of the Group Accounting Manual and relevant legislation and IFRSs.

I have disclosed to you the identity of the CCG’s related parties and all related party relationships and transactions of which I am aware. 

Future commitments

I am not aware of any plans, intentions or commitments that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets and liabilities or give rise 

to additional liabilities.

Subsequent events

I confirm all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the Group Accounting Manual, relevant legislation and IFRSs 

require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. Should further material events occur after the date of this letter which may necessitate 

revision of the figures included in the financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, I will advise you accordingly.

Going concern

To the best of my knowledge there is nothing to indicate that the CCG will not continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future. The period to which 

I have paid particular attention in assessing the appropriateness of the going concern basis is not less than twelve months from the date of approval of 

the accounts.

[Unadjusted misstatements 

I confirm that the effects of the uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. All 

uncorrected misstatements are included as an appendix to this letter (to be appended if there are any following completion of outstanding work otherwise 

this section should be deleted)].

Yours faithfully

Accountable Officer
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Independent auditor’s report to the Governing Body of NHS Sunderland Clinical 

Commissioning Group

Opinion on the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of NHS Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (‘the CCG’) for the year ended 31 March 2020, which 

comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the 
Statement of Cash Flows, and notes to the financial statements, including the summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 

framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 

European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual 2019/20 as contained in the Department of Health and 
Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019/20, and the Accounts Direction issued by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary 

of State as relevant to Clinical Commissioning Groups in England. 

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2020 and of its net expenditure for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2019/20; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our report. We are independent of the CCG in accordance with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

• the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

• the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the 

CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other 

than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except 

to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 

misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 

there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on regularity

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by 

Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.
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Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the 

financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Accountable 

Officer is also responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. 

The Accountable Officer is required to comply with the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual and prepare the financial 

statements on a going concern basis, unless the CCG is informed of the intention for dissolution without transfer of services or function to another entity. 

The Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate for the CCG to prepare its accounts on the going concern 

basis and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

We are also responsible for giving an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice prepared by the 

Comptroller and Auditor General as required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice

In our opinion:

• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit have been properly prepared in accordance with the Accounts Direction made under 

the National Health Service Act 2006; and

• the other information published together with the audited financial statements in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the financial 

statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We are required to report to you if:

• in our opinion the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the guidance issued by NHS England; or

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that 

the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful 

expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a 

loss or deficiency; or

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 and schedule 7(1) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or

• we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 and schedule 7(2) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
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The CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources

Matter on which we are required to report by exception

We are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.

We have nothing to report in this respect. 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 

As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements 

for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG’s resources.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources

We are required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements 

for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, and to report where we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has 

done so.  We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the 

Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2020, as to whether the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and 

deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this 

criterion as that necessary for us to consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper arrangements 

for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered 

necessary.

Use of the audit report

This report is made solely to the members of the Governing Body of NHS Sunderland CCG, as a body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members of the Governing Body of the CCG those matters 

we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of NHS Sunderland CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Cameron Waddell

Partner

For and on behalf of Mazars LLP

Salvus House

Aykley Heads

Durham

DH1 5TS

Date
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As part of our ongoing risk assessment we monitor our relationships with you to identify any new actual or perceived threats to our 

independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your auditors.

The following perceived threat to our independence has been identified since issuing the Audit Strategy Memorandum. We have set out 

below the potential threats to auditor independence and the associated safeguards we have put in place.
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Issue Consideration of independence

Assurance work for Capita PCSE From 2019/20, Mazars is undertaking the ISAE3402 assurance work report for Capita PCSE, a 

shared service provider for primary care services to NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups. Fees 

are estimated to be £105,000 in total.

The potential threats to auditor independence and associated safeguards in place include:

• Self-review: The nature of this work is to provide an independent assurance report to the 

relevant external body. The engagement is entirely separate from the audit through a 

separate contract, and the team is a different team to the audit team;

• Self-interest: The total fee level is not deemed to be material to the CCG or Mazars. The 

fee rate is low per CCG in comparison to audit fees and is not contingent on any 

outcomes from the assurance work;

• Management: The work does not involve Mazars making any decisions on behalf of 

management;

• Advocacy: The work does not involve Mazars advocating the CCG to third parties;

• Familiarity: Work is not deemed to give rise to a familiarity threat; and

• Intimidation: The nature of the work does not give rise to any intimidation threat from 

management to Mazars.
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Northern CCG Joint Committee 

 

Terms of Reference 

 

 

Version Date Comments 

1.0 5.10.17 Considered at Joint CCG Committee for CNE meeting 
  

2.0 12.10.17 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1.18 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

3.5.18 
 

 

 
5.7.18 
 
 
 
 

Updates incorporated following Joint CCG Committee for CNE meeting on 
5.10.17 as follows: 
 

Para.2 – Insertion re term of office: 
‘The term of office will be two years’. 
 

Para.5 – Insertion of paragraph re lay members: 
‘There will also be two (non-voting) lay members appointed to the Joint 
Committee, one of whom will be from a patient and public involvement 
perspective and the other from a finance and governance perspective. Where 
feasible, one lay member will be from the north of the patch and the other from 
the south of the patch’ 
 

Following the selection process on 5th January 2018, the ability to do this was 
not possible hence why this further addition has been made in red above. 
 

Para 15 – Insertion of sentence re decision making: 
‘Decisions will be taken only by those CCGs to whom a particular issue 
applies’ 
 

Para 16 – amendment to paragraph re collective decisions to read: 
The collective decisions of the Joint Committee shall be binding on all 
member CCGs to whom a particular issue applies, and decisions will be 
published by individual CCG members on their websites.  All decisions of 
the Joint Committee must be unanimous.   
 

Title of the Committee 
This has been amended to read consistently throughout as ‘Northern CCG 
Joint Committee’ 
 

At its meeting on 1 January 2018 (development session), the Joint Committee 
agreed 
- not to include financial limits for decision making in the terms of reference. 
- that the Vice-Chair would be selected from any appointed lay member 
 

Amended to note the correct title of NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees 
CCG. 
 

Title of Committee confirmed as ‘Northern CCG Joint Committee’ 
 

At its meeting on 5 July 2018 the Joint Committee agreed that the Chair of the 
CCG Chief officer group would be invited to attend meetings of the Committee 
(both the public and private sessions) and would receive the papers. 
 

Terms of Reference approved. 

3.0 4.7.19 
 
 
7.11.19 

Revised Terms of Reference agreed for submission to and approval by CCG 
Governing Bodies. 
 
Terms of Reference approved by Joint Committee. 
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TERMS OF REFERENCE  

 

Northern CCG Joint Committee: membership and functions 

 

1. Membership of the Northern CCG Joint Committee (hereafter referred to as ‘the Joint 

Committee’) will be open to the eight undermentioned clinical commissioning groups :  

 

 NHS County Durham CCG  

 NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG  

 NHS North Cumbria CCG  

 NHS Northumberland CCG 

 NHS North Tyneside CCG   

 NHS South Tyneside CCG 

 NHS Sunderland CCG  

 NHS Tees Valley CCG  

 

2. Voting membership of the joint committee will comprise the Chair and Chief Officer from each 

member CCG, or a nominated deputy. 

 

3. Where there is an issue requiring a decision to be made which will affect what was formerly NHS 

Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG, NHS North Yorkshire CCG will be invited to attend 

meetings as an Associate Member of the Joint Committee with full voting rights in relation to the 

relevant issue. 

 

4. The Chair and Vice Chair of this Joint Committee will be elected by the members of the Joint 

Committee, and must come from the eight member CCGs. Both roles cannot be undertaken by 

members of the same CCG. The term of office will be two years. 

 

5. Each CCG will be entitled to exercise one vote in the Joint Committee – this means that the two 

representatives of each CCG will have to be in agreement when exercising their CCG’s vote. It 

will then be important for these representatives to canvas views from their nominating CCG 

prior to meetings and to discuss agenda matters in advance of meetings.  

 

6. There will also be two (non-voting) lay members of CCGs appointed to the Joint Committee, one 

of whom will be from a patient and public involvement perspective and the other from a finance 

and governance perspective. One lay member will, where feasible, be from the north of the 

patch and the other from the south of the patch. One of these lay members will also perform the 

role of Vice-Chair. 

 

7. Also attending the meeting (in a non-voting capacity and where appropriate under the conflicts 

of interest policies of the CCGs) will be the Managing Director of NECS, a named Director from 

NHS England, the Head of Strategic CCG Development and the Chair of the CCG Chief Finance 

Officer Group. 

 

8. The Joint Committee will be guided by the following principles: 

 

 Subsidiarity: decisions should be made at the smallest geographical level possible, and joint 

decisions covering a wider geography should only be taken where this adds value.  
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 Securing continuous improvement to the quality of commissioned services to improve 

outcomes for patients with regard to clinical effectiveness, safety and patient experience  

 Promoting innovation and seeking out and adopting best practice, by supporting research 

and adopting and diffusing transformative, innovative ideas, products, services and clinical 

practice within its commissioned services, which add value in relation to quality and 

productivity. 

 Developing strong working relationships with clear aims and a shared vision putting the 

needs of the people we serve over and above organisational interests  

 Avoiding unnecessary costs through better co-ordinated and proactive services which keep 

people well enough to need less acute and long term care. 

 

9. The Joint CCG’s Committee’s work plan will be set annually using a decision-making flowchart 

and scoring criteria set out in Appendix 1.  Where this flowchart shows where there is a policy, 

guideline or procedure that would benefit from full Committee sign-up these should be 

included. This process will be overseen by nominated members (Chair and Chief Officer from 

each member CCG, or a nominated deputy) of the Joint Committee.  This work programme will 

then need to be approved by the Joint Committee and then approved by each member CCG.    

 

10. If urgent or exceptional issues emerge after this work programme is set that require a collective 

decision then approval for this will need to be agreed unanimously by the Joint CCG Committee. 

And ratified by each member CCG. 

 

11. The Joint Committee will also ensure compliance with the four key tests for service change as 

established by the Department for Health: 

 

 Strong public and patient engagement. 

 Consistency with current and prospective need for patient choice. 

 Clear, clinical evidence base. 

 Support for proposals from commissioners. 

 

12. In accordance with statutory powers under s.14Z3 of the NHS Act 2006, the proposed Joint 

Committee will be able to make decisions on procuring services and awarding contracts, chiefly 

to the providers of specialised acute and ambulance services.  In discharging this function the 

committee will: 

 

 Determine the options appraisal process for commissioning services, including agreeing the 

evaluation criteria and weighting of the criteria 

 

 Where appropriate, determine the method and scope of the consultation process, and make 

any necessary decisions arising from a Pre-Consultation Business Case (and the decision to 

go run a formal consultation process). That includes any determination on the viability of 

models of care pre-consultation and during formal consultation processes, as set out in 

s.13Q, s.14Z2 and s.242 of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). 

 

 Approve the formal report on the outcome of the consultation that incorporates all of the 

representations received in order to reach a decision, taking into account all of the 

information collated and representations received in relation to the consultation process. 

 

 Make decisions to satisfy any legal requirements associated with consulting the public and 

making decisions arising from it, ensuring that individual CCGs’ retained duties can be met. 
 



                                                  Official Item: 9.1                    

4 

V4.0  Approved Northern CCG Joint Committee TOR 

 

 

Decision-making and links to individual CCG Governing Bodies  
 

13. The NHS Act 2006 (as amended) enables CCGs to exercise certain functions jointly and to take 

collective binding decisions as to the exercise of these functions. To be clear, this legislative 

permission only applies to Joint Committees of CCGs and does not apply to enable decision-

making to be exercised by any alternatively constituted or wider group (for example, an STP 

Board or Programme Board).  

 

14. Under this legal framework, the power to take commissioning decisions in respect of health 

services sits with CCGs (and to a more limited extent NHS England), with decisions being taken 

by the Governing Body or otherwise, as determined in the relevant governance documents. On 

this basis, all commissioning decisions must be taken by the CCGs acting independently or as a 

formally constituted joint CCG committee. Therefore, when functions are delegated to the Joint 

Committee, it will transact all the work necessary to discharge those functions.  The Joint 

Committee will be the decision maker in relation to that work and those functions, however it is 

for the members of the Joint Committee to consult their own Governing Body prior to any 

decision being taken and for the members to report back to their relevant CCG Governing Body.  

 

15. The relevant parties to whom any Joint Committee decision applies must be agreed first by the 

Joint Committee itself – before any recommendations are brought back to it for decision-making 

(this will allow for the exclusion of certain CCGs where the geographical scope of a proposal does 

not apply to them or because of their current status, e.g. where legal directions prohibit them 

from taking the decision). Decisions will be taken only by those CCGs to whom a particular issue 

applies. 

 

16. The collective decisions of the Joint Committee shall be binding on all member CCGs to whom a 

particular issue applies, and decisions will be published by individual CCG members on their 

websites.  All decisions of the Joint Committee must be unanimous.   

 

17. The Joint Committee will have a forward plan to ensure CCG members are clear which decisions 

they need to prepare for. It will be the responsibility of each member CCG to ensure that their 

Governing Body and/or other CCG decision making body is appropriately consulted and briefed 

ahead of Joint Committee meetings, and is provided with regular updates on the business of the 

Joint Committee so that they are clear on the implications of the decisions made.  

 

18. Implementation of the decisions will be the remit of each member CCG and therefore accurate 

reporting back to their respective Governing Body is essential.  The Joint Committee will make 

regular written reports to the Governing Bodies of its member CCGs, and will review its aims, 

objectives, strategy and progress and produce an annual report for the member Governing 

Bodies. 

 

19. While CCGs can delegate decisions to the Joint Committee they can also agree the governing 

bodies or members input on these decisions and have them provide recommendations into the 

Joint Committee. 

 

20. It is essential that each CCG delegates the same level of authority for the same matters into the 

Joint Committee.  
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21. Should this joint commissioning arrangement prove to be unsatisfactory, the Governing Body of 

any of the member CCGs can decide to withdraw from the arrangement and pull out of the Joint 

Committee.   

 

 

Meetings of the Northern CCG Joint Committee: 

 
22. Members of the Joint Committee have a collective responsibility for the operation of the Joint 

Committee. They will participate in discussion, review evidence and provide objective expert 

input to the best of their knowledge and ability, and endeavor to reach a collective view. 

 

23. The Joint Committee will usually meet on a bi-monthly basis but will be cancelled if there is no 

business to be dealt with. Additional meetings can be called as required.  

 

24. The Joint Committee may call additional experts to attend meetings on an ad hoc basis to inform 

discussions.  

 

25. The Joint Committee has the power to establish sub groups and working groups and any such 

groups will be accountable to the Joint Committee (and ultimately the member CCGs). 

 

26. Para 8 of Schedule 1A of the NHS Act 2006 requires meetings of a Governing Body to be in public 

unless it is not in the public interest to hold them in public.  It will be for the members of the 

formally constituted Joint Committee to decide whether their meetings (or parts of them) are 

held in public to help them meet their statutory duties of transparency and public involvement. 

 

27. Joint Committee meetings held in public should only occur when there is a decision to be made 

or a discussion/information item of public note/concern. 

 

28. The Joint Committee has adopted the standing orders of what was formerly known as North 

Durham CCG  insofar as they relate to the:  

 Notice of meetings 

 Recording and minuting of meetings 

 Agendas 

 Circulation of papers 

 Conflicts of interest (together with complying with the statutory guidance issued by NHS 

England) 

 At least one full voting member from each CCG must be present for the meeting to be 

quorate. 

 All decisions of the Joint Committee must be unanimous (see section 16 above). 

 

29. Members of the Joint Committee shall respect confidentiality requirements as set out in the 

Standing Orders unless separate confidentiality requirements are set out for the Joint 

Committee in which event these shall be observed. 

 

30. The secretariat to the Joint Committee will: 

 Circulate agenda and associated documents at least ten working days prior to the meeting 

 Work in collaboration with CCG and NECS communication and engagement personnel to 

publicise the meeting/agenda and documents on all CCG websites 

 Circulate the minutes and action notes of the Joint Committee within three working days of 

the meeting to all members 
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V4.0  Approved Northern CCG Joint Committee TOR 

 Present the minutes and action notes to the governing bodies of the CCGs. 

 

31. These terms of reference will be formally reviewed annually by the CCGs and may be amended 

by mutual agreement between the CCGs at any time to reflect changes in circumstances as they 

may arise. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved by Northern CCG Joint Committee at its meeting on 7 November 2019. 
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Executive Committee 

Minutes of the meeting held at 12.30pm, Tuesday 3 March 2020 
Sir Tom Cowie Suite, Pemberton House 

Minutes 
 
Present:   Dave Gallagher (Chair) 
    Ann Fox (AF) 
    David Chandler (DC) 
    Eric Harrison (EH) 
    Dr Fadi Khalil (FK) 
    Florence Gunn (FG) 
    Dr Ian Pattison (IP) 
    Dr Karthik Gellia (KG) 
    Dr Raj Bethapudi (RB) 
    Dr Saira Malik (SM) 
    Dr Tracey Lucas (TL) 
 
In attendance:   Clare Nesbit (CN) 
    Matt Thubron (MT)  (for item 6.2, item 9.1) 
    Daisy Barnetson (DB) (for item 7.1) 
    Helen Steadman (HS) (for item 7.3) 
    Joanne Leadbitter  (minutes) 
 
       
2020/33 Welcome and Introduction 
 
 The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and confirmed the 

meeting was quorate.   
 
    
2020/34 Apologies for Absence 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Deborah Cornell, Gillian 

Gibson and Scott Watson, Claire Bradford. 
 
  
2020/35 Declarations of Interest 
 
 Interest was declared from all GP partners in item 7.5 in relation to the 

general practice quality premium.  It was agreed that GP partners 
would be excluded from any decision making/voting in relation to this 
item. 
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 There were no further declarations of interest received. 
 
2020/36 Items of any other business 
 

The following items of any other business were noted; value based 
commissioning policy update, update on the Director of Nursing post, 
Safeguarding update and Covid-19.  

 
 
2020/37 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 4 February 2020 
  

The minutes of the meeting held on 4 February 2020 were agreed as 
an accurate record. 

 
 
2020/38 Action Log 
  
 2019/406 mental health benchmarking, the timescale was amended to 

April 2020.  
 
Raj Bethapudi arrived at this point 
  
 
2020/39 Finance Report 
  
 DC presented the finance report. 
 

The CCG is forecasting a cumulative surplus of £19,569k.  This is 
£3,200k ahead of the original 2019/20 plan as agreed by the Governing 
Body and NHS England.  NHS England has agreed with the CCG that 
in return for amending the control total this year the CCG will receive a 
guaranteed return of an additional £4.5m in 2021/22.  This is in addition 
to the drawdown confirmed for 2020/21 of £4.5m. These funds will be 
ring-fenced and will only be able to be utilised for the benefit of 
Sunderland CCG’s population.  This is reflected as an additional under-
spend in the year to date and planned forecast outturn.  

  
 Within the acute reporting area the forecast outturn for Newcastle Upon 
Tyne Hospitals NHS FT has improved by £50k which reduces the 
overall forecast variance to £500k against the 2019/20 budget. This is 
in the main due to high cost cases in Critical Care, Emergency Care 
and Elective Care. 

 
 Mental health services have seen a number of offsetting movements in 
the forecast outturn.  The most significant variance is within Section 
117s which is £593k over plan. Within Altogether Better’s (ATB) 
programme two a specific work programme has been establish to 
review Section 117s. 

 
Clare Nesbit arrived at this point 
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 Discussion took place in relation to opportunities that might exist in 

mental health going forward. 
 

The CCG is currently forecasting a breakeven position for delegated 
general practice budgets for 2019/20. In month 10 the CCG has 
reported a breakeven position for delegated general practice budgets. 
Within this position there are prior year underspends mainly from QOF 
and enhanced services.  This has created approximately £1,030k of 
non-recurrent resource to be utilised on non-recurrent spending plans 
within 2019/20. 
 
In addition, drawdown funding had been utilised ahead of April 2020 
into a number of areas of innovation, such as the GP quality 
improvement and innovation scheme and PCN infrastructure support 
and development.  Both ideas had been raised and agreed by the 
PCCC in line with the scheme of delegation.   
 
The better care fund forecast outturn position an underspend of £536k, 
which reflects underspends relating to oxygen prescribing, CHC 
packages of care offset by additional spend in mental health which in 
the main relates to additional costs for section 117 clients. The Local 
Authority position shows a forecasted overspend of £8,613k mainly as 
a result of additional cost pressures.  Work is underway to reduce the 
overspend and allocate resources to this area. 
 
A discussion took place on the importance of working together with 
partners to address all the challenges in the system. 
 
An update was provided in relation to financial planning and the issues 
and risks in the system.  A balanced draft plan has been submitted.  
There had been a useful session with ATB looking at prioritisation of 
out of hospital and work is ongoing in this area.  Conversations with 
NEAS are continuing at an ICS level and work is underway to look at 
this from a system perspective. 

 
The Executive Committee NOTED the financial position of the CCG as 
at 31 January 2020; NOTED the update provided on the delivery of 
2019/20 productivity plans. 

 
 
2020/40 Performance Report 
 

Matt Thubron presented the performance report and highlighted the key 
points. 
 
The CCG remains below the 92% RTT standard for December 2019, 
despite the inclusion of MSK activity from December 2019.  
Performance was 91.8%, 54 patients from achieving the standard.  
This is due to an increase in over 18 week waiters in a number of key 
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pressure specialties such as orthopaedics and respiratory medicine.  
Some individual provider pressures have also impacted on the CCG. 
 
As a result of the inclusion of MSK into the RTT position, the waiting list 
has, as anticipated, increased by 2,777 patients.  If MSK was not 
included, performance would be 91.2% instead of 91.8%.  Performance 
remains better in Sunderland than the regional position. 
 
The dermatology SPoA is now live and referrals into CDDFT have 
reduced by an average of 72% per week for the first three weeks for 
routine referrals.  There has been no impact on the 2 week wait 
pathway or plastic surgery referrals.  The CCG is now working with 
CDDFT and STSFT to transfer a number of patients from CDDFT into 
the community service who were referred prior to the SPoA as a 
waiting list initiative.  This is to allow the CDDFT service to focus on 
long waiters and improve waiting times.  It is anticipated that this will 
take place in March 2020. 
 
It was highlighted that the activity that had been commissioned by the 
CCG in relation to the extra funding of £1.6m is ongoing.  Updates had 
been received from STSFT which indicate improvements in some of 
the areas.  Waiting times in audiology have improved significantly since 
the investment with extra locums and clinics being provided.   
 
A&E four hour wait performance in Sunderland and for South Tyneside 
and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust continues to be a challenge 
with published performance in December 2019 of 74.5% (for STSFT 
overall).  Performance so far in January 2020 has shown a slight 
improvement. 
 
STSFT is in the process of mobilising the agreed same day emergency 
care model in Sunderland and ATB programme 4 continue to develop 
the business case for an integrated urgent care model. 
 
Discussion took place on the use of consultant connect whenever 
possible for acute same day admissions and there would be an 
expansion of this in due course and this would be communicated 
accordingly. 
 
It was agreed that validation of consultant connect data would be 
checked with GP colleagues. 
 
Action: MT and executive GPs 
 
Ambulance response time performance remains in a similar position to 
previous months with only category 1 performance achieving.  North 
East Ambulance Service failed to deliver all standards for the first time 
this year in November 2019. 
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Delayed transfers of care reduced in November 2019 but volumes still 
remain high compared to previous years.   
 
Cancer performance has deteriorated; a number of standards are now 
failing to deliver with 62 days and the two week wait standard failing in 
November 2019.  Regionally the position continues to deteriorate. 
 
Children’s mental health waiting times has shown deterioration with a 
greater proportion of patients waiting over 18 weeks than previous 
months (for CYPS).  Additional funding has been allocated to providers 
to tackle the long waiters. 

 
Daisy Barnetson arrived at this point 
 

Work is about to commence around the development of a SPoA for 
children’s mental health services led by Cumbria, Northumberland, 
Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust with a number of workshops 
scheduled.  This will be alongside the deep dive into mental health 
waiting times which will then feed into the development of a new 5 year 
transformation plan.  
 
Additional funding has also been allocated to providers to help reduce 
waiting times. 
 
The Executive Committee NOTED the position and progress against 
each indicator in the NHS Single Oversight Framework. 

 
 
2020/41 Children and Young People’s Mental Health Transformational Plan 

Refresh 
 

 Daisy Barnetson presented the 2020 refreshed children and young 
people’s mental health and wellbeing transformational plan 
 
For the 2020 refresh of the plan, NHS England has announced they will 
download a copy of each local plan on the 31 March 2020 from the 
CCG’s website.  A review of the downloaded plan will be carried out 
against key lines of enquiry.   
 
It was highlighted that no changes have been made to the main body of 
the existing plan.  The only difference this year is that the executive 
summary will be added to the beginning of the plan to create one 
document for NHS England to download. 
 
Children and young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities have not been explicitly addressed in the executive 
summary as this work sits within the SEND Strategic Partnership 
governance, and there is a separate SEND strategic commissioning 
plan in development.   
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The delivery of this plan will be overseen by the Children’s Integrated 
Commissioning Group. 
 
In relation to the plan for next year, confirmation from NHSE is awaited 
as to what will be required for next year; however it is anticipated that 
there will be a new plan written as there is a need to do what is right for 
Sunderland. 
 
 There was a concern that the timelines for single point of access 
appear to be quite long, and further information was sought in relation 
to implementation.  It was confirmed that firmer plans are now in place 
to make progress and we need to commit that there is no slippage on 
these plans. 
 
It was noted that there are key pieces of work taking place.  Ocre are 
undertaking a deep dive into the data in relation to children’s mental 
health services.  This will be a really useful piece of work to inform the 
pathways and get existing services to work more effectively and in a 
more integrated way.   

 
 There was a discussion on getting the plan right, the impact on 
outcomes in relation to funding, what success looks like and outcome 
measures. 
 
It was highlighted that significant work will be undertaken to revise the 
plan for the future and lots of conversations would be taking place to 
inform the next piece of work. 
 
The Executive Committee APPROVED the Children and Young 
People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Transformational Plan 2015 – 
2020: 2020 refresh. 

 
 
2020/42 Research and Evidence Q3 
 
 Ann Fox presented this report and provided an update on the activities 

being undertaken to increase general practice involvement in research 
which are having a positive impact. 

 
 The research and evidence steering group is implementing innovative 

ways to communicate and engage with Sunderland CCG member 
practices to encourage them to become research active and 
understand the importance of research and evidence in primary care.   
 
Promotion of research and evidence will take place at a future TITO 
event; however it was felt that this may be more appropriate to feed into 
a PCN meeting. 

 
Helen Steadman arrived at this point 
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The Executive Committee RECEIVED the report; NOTED the activities, 
subsequent progress being made and assurance provided. 

 
 
2020/43 Operational Plan Update Report 
 
 Helen Steadman provided an update on progress in the delivery of the 

transformation programmes in Sunderland CCG’s 2019/20 Operational 
Plan. 

 
 It was noted that there are two red risks, one in relation to the 

achievement of targets for the initiation and continuation of breast 
feeding and the second risk relates to the potential slippage against the 
deadline to complete a trailblazer bid for mental health support teams in 
schools due to project governance and the number of forums that 
require sight of the bid before submission. 

 
 Maternal health and wellbeing target to achieve 35% in relation to 

continuity of care by March 2020, set by NHSE, has been revised as it 
was considered too ambitious.  The target agreed for South Tyneside 
and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust is 11%, which is considered 
achievable. 

 
 It was highlighted that since finalisation of the report some concerns 

had come to light in relation to prevention 1; children’s physical and 
mental health concerning the work streams intended to reduce 
pressures on child and adolescent mental health services.  The number 
of schools attaining the Mental Health Charter Mark had been 
previously reported as progressing well, however there is now some 
concern that this will be under trajectory. 

 
 It was noted a lot of work progressing in relation to early diagnosis and 

stratified cancer pathways.  The report provided data in relation to the 
lung case finding project and the outcomes of the work on CT scans.  
STSFT are working on developing a model rapid diagnostic centre and 
will be in a position to roll out phase 1 from April 2020. 

 
 A workshop on stratified pathways in breast cancer had taken place in 

January 2020 to discuss the re-access points for breast patients.  A 
new pathway was proposed by STSFT which would allow patients to 
re-access service by contacting the QE.  The QE agreed the new 
pathway, in principle, but are currently looking into the workforce 
implications.  Consideration is also needed into the impact of the 
regional oncology review.  A follow up meeting will be taking place in 
March 2020. 

  
 Sunderland has been without a clinical nurse specialist for metastatic 

breast patients since the service transferred to the Queen Elizabeth 
Hospital. Due to the inequality of service to Sunderland patients, a 
meeting took place in January to scope out the resource implications to 
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fill this gap. It is estimated that 2 WTE will be required to cover 
Sunderland and South Tyneside. A higher percentage of time will be 
dedicated to Sunderland as South Tyneside has access to a CNS but 
still have gaps. 

  
 The CVD programme group will be reviewing and refreshing plans in 

light of emerging ICP plans. 
 
 An issue with the baseline data for the 2018/19 statin switch QP has 

been considered by the CVD programme group and where it was 
recommended that the monies allocated for this indicator be passed to 
practices who achieved in full and the remaining funding allocated to 
practices on the basis of their achievement of the other indicators. A 
paper, regarding options and recommendation for sign off, is being 
developed to be taken to the appropriate committee. 

 
 Work continues to engage with the national team on the testing of 

healthy living for people with type 2 diabetes.  The first invites in the 
country have gone out to a small number of patients from Dr 
Stephenson's and Partners. The scope will be expanded to include 
further practices in Sunderland, and if that is successful to practices in 
the Integrated Care Partnership. 

 
 Discussion took place on the diabetes network and how issues are fed 

into the group. 
 
 In relation to the respiratory work stream it was confirmed that three 

priority areas had been identified to take forward and work plans are 
being developed. 

 
 The new clinical model was agreed following consultation with 

stakeholders including service users and Healthwatch and sign off by 
ATB Programme 3. A SWOT analysis of the commissioning and 
business options to secure deliver has been undertaken. This was 
debated at the ATB Commissioning and Procurement group in 
February, and the approach agreed. While there has been some 
improvement in the number of patients receiving equipment within 18 
weeks, the new model is needed to ensure improvements are 
sustained. 

 
The development of the CCG’s one year operational plan for 2020/21 is 
in progress but this year’s approach has been different to reflect the 
system working through the alliance working with All Together Better 
and through the Transforming Health and Care Operational Group of 
the two CCGs and STSFT.  It is expected that the one year plan will 
also reflect the shift to becoming a strategic commissioner.  

 
 Discussion took place on the ICP plans and ICS plan and the CCG 

being assured it is influencing at the right place and the right time. 
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 The Executive Committee NOTED the update on progress against the 
2019-20 plan on a page. 

 
Helen Steadman left at this point 
Wendy Thompson arrived at this point 
 
 
2020/44 CHC Quarterly Update 
 

Ann Fox provided an update on the transformation programme for CHC 
and the future sustainability for care packages across Sunderland. 
 
Good progress continues to be made on the integrated transformation 
plan with All Together Better colleagues as part of joint commissioning 
arrangements within programme 3 of ATB.  Development of patient 
information, communication and engagement strategies is progressing 
well as is collaborative working partnerships to improve operational 
processes, knowledge of CHC and drive up the quality of referral 
information. 
 
It was noted that due to the fact that the CHC team is in house and 
working in an integrated way with council colleagues, significant 
progress is being made. 
 
The patient management system (Broadcare) is now in place for live 
data and migration of last year’s data has commenced which will 
address data/assurance gaps. Files have now been scanned and the 
department is working toward paper light system. 

 
In recognition of the digital transformation work thus far the team has been 
requested to put themselves forward for an award at the upcoming 
regional NHSE/I ICS/ICP event in March 2020. 
 
The committee thanked the team for their hard work and effort which is 
now showing some positive results and good progress. 
 

The Executive Committee NOTED the update; were ASSURED that 
progress is being made and identified risks and issues are being 
managed. 
 
 

2020/45 General Practice Quality Premium 
 
 Interest was declared from GP partners in relation to this item.  It was 

confirmed that the chair would be happy to receive views, but GP 
partners would be excluded from any decision making on this item. 

 
 Wendy Thompson provided the key points of the General Practice 

Quality Premium (QP) proposal for 2020/21.  The QP was first 
introduced within Sunderland in 2017-18 and replaced the many 
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enhanced services and inventive schemes that were previously in place 
in general practice. 

 
 It was noted the QP is split into 3 areas; 70% indicators, 30% indicators 

and QP+.  The scheme utilises recurrent funding and is assessed on an 
annual basis to determine which indicators are to be included, 
amended or resigned.  All practices signed up to participate in the QP 
in previous years and it is proposed that the scheme continues into 
2020/21. 

 
 The proposed areas to be included in the 2020/21 QP had been 

submitted via the relevant clinical, executive and management leads 
and reviewed by a task and finish panel to assess their inclusion in the 
2020/21 QP.  It was felt that this year there would a good suite of 
indicators which would stretch practices but are also not too onerous in 
terms of delivery.  The payment to practices was confirmed as £10.57 
per population head for the 2020/21 quality premium. 

 
 Following discussion the PCCC was supportive of the paper and 

recommended approval by the Executive Committee. 
 
 A suggestion was made to summarise all the asks into a couple of 

pages, and it was confirmed that this would happen once the technical 
guidance has been developed but would include this summary as part 
of the overall final paper.  

 
 Concern was expressed that completion of the national cancer 

diagnosis audit for at least 90% of cancer diagnoses would create a 
huge amount of work.  It was confirmed that this had been considered 
by the panel as part of a robust process, with further discussion at the 
primary care commissioning committee, and this figure had been 
recommended and agreed. 

  
 It was highlighted that discharge summaries are no longer routinely 

received which would support completion of the national cancer audit.  
It was agreed that AF would discuss with CB and link in with the local 
cancer group.  

  
 Action:  AF/CB 
  
 It was highlighted that if there is anything out of individuals’ control that 

would impinge the ability to achieve in an area, this would be looked at 
at the end of the review.  It was suggested that it would be useful to 
include this as part of the summary document that is being developed. 

 
 Non-practice partners SUPPORTED the recommendation made by the 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee that the quality premium is 
approved and offered to practices in Sunderland for 2020-21. 

 
Wendy Thompson left the meeting at this point 
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2020/46 APC Recommendation Summary 
 
 Ewan Maule presented the South Tyneside and Sunderland Area 

Prescribing Committee recommendation summaries from the 5 
February 2020 meeting. 

 
The dermatology chapter of the formulary, which was developed in 
conjunction with the secondary care service at CDDFT, addresses an 
existing gap. 
 
Updated NHSE guidance on medicines which should not be prescribed 
in primary care may provide a cost saving.  This is being quantified and 
will be included in prescribing efficiencies planned for 2020/21. 

 
 The Executive Committee NOTED the contents of the report, 

APPROVED the recommendations made by the South Tyneside and 
Sunderland APC at the meeting on 5 February 2020. 

 
 
2020/47 Implementation of IFRS16 (Leases) 
 
 DC presented an update on the changes associated with the 

implementation of International Financial Reporting Standards 16 within 
the NHS.  The report outlined the expected impact of the adoption of 
IFRS 16 on the CCG’s financial statements from 2020-21 onwards and 
set out steps being taken within the CCG to prepare for this change. 

 
 IFRS 16 simplifies the accounting treatment of leases, and as a result it 

is expected a large number of leases, or contracts containing a lease, 
will move onto the lessee’s statement of financial position. In IFRS 16 a 
lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the 
right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration’. This definition requires all staff involved 
with contracting within the organisation to be aware and be involved in 
the implementation of the standard. 

 
 The CCG has been taking a number of steps to prepare for the 

implementation of IFRS 16, which will involve more than the financial 
management team due to the nature of the changes. 

 
 It was noted that a comprehensive assessment of the CCGs current 

leases and contracts had taken place and three items were deemed to 
contain a lease as defined by IFRS 16; Pemberton House, Loftus 
House and Grindon Mews. 

 
 The Executive Committee NOTED the implementation of IFRS 16 in 

the NHS from 1 April 2020; NOTED the expected impact of this change 
to the CCGs financial statements in 2020/21; NOTED the steps being 
taken to prepare the CCG for the implementation of IFRS 16 from 1 
April 2020. 
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2020/48 Sunderland’s Adult Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 
Business Case 

 
Ann Fox presented this report which provided background and context 
to the development of an adult Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 
in Sunderland.  The report included recommendations for a proposed 
fully integrated MASH model including health input. 
 
Given the volume of cases being triaged by the MASH and the 
recorded outcomes it is proposed that the CCG provides funding for a 
0.5 WTE Band 7 MH Safeguarding Advisor and a 0.5 WTE Band 3 
Safeguarding Administrator to be co-located with the Sunderland 
Safeguarding Adults Team to support the MASH triage/management of 
cases and provide support and advice for the /management of SAC 
referrals to the Safeguarding Team. 
 
It is anticipated that this level of resource will be sufficient to provide 
health support for the MASH; it is recommended that the model is 
reviewed and evaluated during the first year to ensure that the model is 
working effectively.   
 
The Executive Committee NOTED the agreed investment of £42,520 to 
support the development of a fully integrated MASH with a dedicated 
health resource. 

 
 
2020/49 Any Other Business 
 
 Value Based Commissioning Policy Update 
 
 Matt Thubron provided an update on the key changes to the regional 

Value Based Clinical Commissioning Policy.  The policy had been 
amended to reflect emerging guidance around the national 20 
procedures carried out for quality concerns. 

 
 The VBC policy has been updated to reflect: general information/ 

updates as a result of the regional review; existing procedures/ 
interventions that have had clarifications or amendments made to their 
policy; new policy proposals that have been developed to incorporate 
within the policy. 

 
 The updated policy and associated clarifications have been shared with 

providers and processes are in place to vary these in to the NHS 
standard contracts.  The ratified policy will be shared with practices and 
added to the CCG website. 

 
 Concern was expressed that some of the procedures listed should not 

be included in the policy, however it was noted that these areas are 
currently being finalised.  The final policy would be circulated for 
information and uploaded to teamnet for accessibility in due course. 
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 Action: MT 
 
 The Executive Committee NOTED the changes to the Value Based 

Clinical Commissioning Policy including the policy clarifications; 
RATIFIED the Value Based Clinical Commissioning Policy for inclusion 
in contracts. 

 
 
 Executive Director of Nursing Post 
 
 AF updated she has requested to retire and return and the application 

has been agreed.  Therefore, AF will retire at the end of July 2020 and 
return on reduced hours in September 2020.  The detail is still to be 
worked through, however this will have a potential impact on her quality 
and safeguarding portfolio. 

 
 Previous discussions had taken place regarding hosting arrangements 

for the integrated safeguarding function for Sunderland and South 
Tyneside, this arrangement is still proceeding and recruitment to posts 
will be taking place soon.  It was acknowledged there will be gaps in 
capacity until recruitment is completed due to other members of staff 
retiring but this is mitigated by resource which has been secured for the 
Designated Looked After Children  and the Designated Children’s 
safeguarding functions  from ORCA (agency cover already working in 
the city), to ensure statutory duties are delivered. 

 
 A proposal was shared to recruit a part time deputy director of nursing 

to provide the resilience and leadership required to lead and manage 
the quality and safeguarding function.  It was confirmed this will be a 
Sunderland CCG post and management costs would be recharged to 
STCCG.  

 
 The Executive Committee SUPPORTED the proposal to recruit a part 

time deputy director of nursing. 
  
 
 Covid-19 
 
 An NHS letter had been received in relation to NHS preparedness and 

response and what the ‘ask’ is.  AF agreed to share with colleagues for 
information. 

 
 Action: AF 
 
 At ICP level there has been a request to develop a local co-ordination 

service and look at how capacity can be quickly ramp up to do home 
testing.  Preparedness is looking at mid case scenario rather than worst 
case scenario. 
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 Alan Foster has called a meeting tomorrow of key people in the ICP 
including the 3 Accountable Officers, Accountable Emergency Officer 
for the two trusts, community representatives and infection control 
leads.  The intent is to ramp up capacity without destabilising 
community services, general practice and ED. 

 
 It was highlighted that clear guidance is required on who to swab and 

discussion took place on the front line requiring guidance on what to 
do.  It was acknowledged there are a range of issues that require 
clarification. 

 
 It was agreed that communication needs to be right; it has been agreed 

that communication comes from one person per organisation; this will 
be CB for Sunderland CCG.  TeamNet is being used to ensure current 
information is used. 

 
 Organisations need to ensure that up to date business continuity plans 

are in place. 
 
 The Executive Committee expressed thanks to DG for his hard work 

and support in Sunderland and wished him well in his new role in 
Teesside. 

 
 
2020/50 Date and time of next meeting – Tuesday 7 April 2020, 12.30pm – 

16.00pm, Joseph Swan Room, Pemberton House.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Signed: 
 
Date: 28 April 2020 
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Executive Committee 

Minutes of the meeting held at 11:00 a.m., Tuesday 7 April 2020 
 

Minutes 
 
Present:   Dr Neil O’Brien (Chair) 
    Ann Fox (AF) 
    David Chandler (DC) 
    Eric Harrison (EH) 
    Dr Fadi Khalil (FK) 
    Florence Gunn (FG) 
    Dr Ian Pattison (IP) 
    Dr Karthik Gellia (KG) 
    Dr Raj Bethapudi (RB) 
    Dr Tracey Lucas (TL) 
    Claire Bradford (CB) 
 
In attendance:   Scott Watson (SW) 
    Deb Cornell (DCo) 
    Clare Nesbit (CN) 
    Julie Parker Walton (JPW) 
    Joanne Leadbitter (minutes) 
 
       
2020/51 Welcome and Introduction 
 
 The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and confirmed the 

meeting was quorate.   
 
    
2020/52 Apologies for Absence 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from Gillian Gibson and Philip 

Foster. 
 
  
2020/53 Declarations of Interest 
 
 There were no declarations of interest received. 
 
 
 
 



  NHS Official Item: 10.2 

Page 2 of 8 

 

2020/54 Items of any other business 
  
 There were no items of any other business noted.  
 
 
2020/55 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 3 March 2020 
  

The minutes of the meeting held on 3 March 2020 were agreed as an 
accurate record. 

 
  
2020/56 Action Log 
  
 The following actions were updated on the action log: 
 

 2019/406 mental health benchmarking timescale was amended to 
May 2020 

 2019/418 winter plan outcome report timescale was amended to 
May 2020 

 2020/40 validation of consultant connect data timescale was 
amended to May 2020 

 2020/49 VBC policy update timescale was amended to May 2020 
 

 
2020/57 Finance Report 
  
 DC presented the finance report. 
  
 The CCG is forecasting a cumulative surplus of £19,569k which is 

£3,200k ahead of the original 2019/20 plan as agreed by the Governing 
Body and NHS England.  This in the main relates to 2019/20 draw-
down funding that has not yet been utilised by the CCG.  NHS England 
has agreed that in return for amending the control total this year that 
the CCG will receive a guaranteed return of an additional £4.5m in 
2021/22.  This is in addition to the drawdown confirmed for 2020/21 of 
£4.5m.  These funds will be ring-fenced and will only be able to be 
utilised for the benefit of Sunderland CCG’s population. This is reflected 
as an additional under-spend in the year to date and planned forecast 
outturn.  DC noted that in addition another £0.5m would now be 
allocated to the CCG in 21/22 following a request to improve the CCG 
positon by £0.5m which was approved at Governing Body. 

  
 A question was raised in relation to what the plans were for the 

additional draw down funding.  It was confirmed that a sub-committee 
of the Governing Body would be looking at how this could be utilised 
and there are currently a number of plans being developed.  This 
though was effectively on hold as the CCG focused on COVID-19 
response. 
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 It was noted that a number of budget virements were included in the 
report that required approval by the Executive Committee. 

 
As part of the preparing the NHS for responding to the coronavirus 
pandemic Simon Stevens, NHS Chief Executive and Amanda 
Pritchard, NHS Chief Operating Officer had sent a letter which set out 
the requirements of all NHS organisations.  This included the cost 
reimbursement process for CCGs and NHS providers.  The aim of 
these arrangements is to provide certainty, resilience and increasing 
the speed of the response to coronavirus whilst maintaining appropriate 
financial governance and control. 
 
Action: DC to share appendix 3 of the letter for completeness 

 
The paper included update in relation to the Mental Health Investment 
Standard benchmarking and it could be seen that the CCG spends 
more per head than CCGs in the NE that shared information. 
 
A suggestion was made to undertake benchmarking with statistical 
partners from children’s safeguarding perspective.  The statistical 
partners were a similar population for deprivation and a similar 
population in terms of the demands, particularly for children’s mental 
health.  It was felt this might be another useful perspective for 
comparison and there would be value in doing so. 

 
The Executive Committee NOTED the financial position of the CCG as 
at 29 February 2020; NOTED the update provided on the delivery of 
2019/20 productivity plans; APPROVED budget virements over 
£1,000k; NOTED the Mental Health Investment Standard 
benchmarking update, NOTED the coronavirus cost reimbursement 
arrangements set out by NHS England and NHS Improvement. 

 
 
2020/58 Performance Report 
 

Scott Watson presented the performance report and highlighted the key 
points. 
 
As a result of COVID-19 (C19) the report provided the latest update for 
each area and outlined the risks going forward.  A number of key 
documents have been released outlining the impact of the coronavirus 
on contracts and performance.  This includes the suspension of many 
contractual requirements and submissions. National planning 
requirements have also been suspended. 
 
As a result of the pandemic, there is a significant risk of deterioration in 
a number of national standards.  Preparations have already 
commenced in a number of areas as per the national expectations, 
which includes focus on discharging patients, management of routine 
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referrals and utilising the independent sector for urgent and cancer 
work. 
 
Referral to treatment position deteriorated in February 2020, a 
reduction from 91.6% to 90.7%.  The CCG is 310 patients from 
delivering the standard.  Although the CCG agreed a number of 
initiatives to help deliver improvements in RTT, these are now severely 
impacted by C19 i.e. they have ceased. 
 
A number of specialties have shown a deterioration which includes 
urology, orthopaedics, respiratory medicine, rheumatology and plastic 
surgery.  
 
A&E four hour wait performance in Sunderland and for South Tyneside 
and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust has improved based on 
published information for February 2020.  STSFT performance was 
81.75% for all types with type one 71.72%, both improvements on the 
previous month of greater than 3%.  A&E attendances continue to 
decrease as a result of the coronavirus pandemic.  Despite the 
decrease in attendances and improved discharge performance for type 
one remains a significant challenge. 
 
A suggestion was made in relation to an exec to exec meeting between 
SCCG and STSFT in relation to the 95% target and this would be taken 
forward once Covid starts to settle. 
 
Ambulance response time performance remains in a similar position to 
previous months with only category 1 performance achieving.   
 
Delayed transfers of care increased in January 2020 and volumes still 
remain high compared to previous years.  It is expected that these will 
decrease as a result of the C19 planning. 
 
Cancer performance has deteriorated and a number of standards are 
now failing to deliver.  Both the 62 days and the two week wait 
standards failing in January 2020.  Regionally the position continues to 
deteriorate.  It was also noted that the independent sector contract that 
superceded the contract in place that is predominantly being used for 
cancer; there is a proposal with FT Chief Executives to create a cancer 
co-ordination centre through the Cancer Alliance to manage 
independent sector capacity across the region to ensure priority cancer 
patients receive treatment. 
 
Children’s mental health waiting times have shown an improvement in 
February 2020, particularly in CYPS where the number of children 
waiting for assessment has decreased as has the proportion waiting 
longer than 18 weeks.  This as a result of the additional capacity put in 
place by providers from allocated CCG funding. 
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It was highlighted that performance and quality are strongly linked and 
had any thought been given to ensure patients continue to receive a 
quality service which minimises any additional harm during the Covid 
pandemic.  There had been discussion within the quality and safety 
team and there is previous assurance for quarter 3 that will go to the 
integrated committee for assurance. 
 
Statutory duties would be reviewed to enable an interim quality report 
to be produced to articulate the context being operated in, information 
received, how this information has been acted on and how assurance 
would be received.  An outline report would be developed to cover all 
aspects usually taken to the Quality Committee but integrated into one 
report. 

 
The Executive Committee NOTED the content of the report and the 
position and progress against each indicator in the NHS Single 
Oversight Framework. 

 
 
2020/59 COVID-19 Incident Command Standard Operating Procedure 
  
 Deborah Cornell provided a verbal update in relation to the SCCG’s 

standard operating procedure that is in place around incident response.  
It is very practical in relation to communication and key contacts and in 
particular, management of the Covid inbox.  The document is available 
on TeamNet and the SCCG Intranet. 

 
 The Executive NOTED the updated provided. 
 
 
2020/60 SCCG Covid SRO Update 
 
 Claire Bradford provided an update on Covid. 
 
 North East and Yorkshire NHSEI have set up a number of cells and 

sub-groups, however the remit, role and terms of reference are all 
unclear and have asked for clarification.  If we receive a request for 
contribution or input we will do our best and spread across ICP.  Our 
approach has been to focus on what is going on locally, where we can 
make a difference. 

 
 Action: JL to circulate the list of current cells and sub-groups 
 
 At an ICS level Alison Slater is doing a huge amount and is being 

supported by Lucy Topping.  They are working closely with the military, 
the EPRR system, is linked in with LRFs and working on progressing 
PPE and testing issues. 

 
 The strategic health command call took place yesterday to update Alan 

Foster on progress, it is not a decision making group.  Discussions had 
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focused on PPE and staff testing.  A key worker testing site is being 
established at the Ikea Car Park in Gateshead from 8 April 2020.  Will 
commence with 50 tests per day and swabs will be sent to Milton 
Keynes.  This is part of the national programme being delivered by 
Deloitte. 

 
We have agreed locally to follow our local process which is working and 
validated at path labs.  It was confirmed that staff undertaking swab 
testing have been trained by microbiology at CHS. 

 
 Positive feedback had been received from a few staff who had been 

tested at Houghton, it was felt that locally it was working well. 
 
 PPE remains an issue and lots of information going up the chain of 

command.  LRFs being co-ordinated with our council colleagues and 
were due to go out to social care and independent sector providers but 
had been delayed.  Care homes are under pressure however we have 
maintained mutual aid at a local level to keep people safe. 

 
 Scoping being undertaken in relation to FFP3 masks to look at how 

many we need to keep and how many we can trade in at ICS for the 
usual water repellent masks.  There were practices in other parts of the 
patch that were at risk of closure due to insufficient PPE, there had 
been an intent to set up a hub for emergency supply but there is 
nothing spare to go into the hub.  Looking at alternative providers 
outside of the supply chain.  People are managing mutual aid at a local 
level. 

 
 It was noted that requests for PPE are being made to the private 

sector, acute trusts are going out to independent providers and there is 
a huge amount of work going on to try to resolve this issue.  Local 
plastics and manufacturing companies are being asked to change 
production lines to enable them to make gowns and goggles.   

 
 At the moment the activity in critical care is manageable but worse in 

Cumbria than the North East. 
  

There had been some discussion on the call regarding social care and 
beds in the North ICP. 

 
 In terms of care homes in Sunderland, DC is linking in with Graham 

King and Jon Ritchie regarding plans to block purchase and how it is 
financed however the NHS financial guidance has not yet been 
published.  Care home vacancy information from the tracker indicates 
that on average there are 10% of vacancies across Tyne and Wear. 

 
 A question was raised in relation to testing in care homes and the PHE 

guidance on testing category/group 3 care homes.  It was felt the 
guidance had changed but further information would be required.   
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 It was confirmed that PHE have changed the way outbreaks are 
managed in care homes and no longer testing.  JPW confirmed testing 
is not taking place in care homes as there are too many cases.  JPW 
was requested to check with the Health Protection Team whether there 
has been any up to date guidance to that shared on 2 April. 

 
 Action: JPW to check with the Health Protection Team 

whether there has been any further guidance to that 
shared on 2 April regards COVID-19 testing in care 
homes 

 
 PPE orders from 6 local authorities will not be covered in full by the 

amount being sent. 
 
 The Executive Committee NOTED the update provided. 
 
 
2020/61 SEND Commissioning Update 
 
 Ann Fox provided an update on progress to tackle the challenges of 

implementing the integrated commissioning services for children with 
special educational needs and disabilities across Sunderland CCG and 
Together for Children. 

 
 The Children’s Integrated Commissioning Group will drive forward the 

overarching strategic plan, with the integrated SEND Strategic 
Commissioning Group supporting the delivery of the 16 key areas for 
action.   

 
 Work is underway to agree key leads and map detailed milestones 

across the 16 key areas for action in the plan.  However, the necessary 
focus on critical functions a result of the coronavirus pandemic has led 
to a delay in completing this element of the plan. 

 
 It was noted that the final SEND strategic commissioning plan would be 

presented for approval at the June executive committee. 
 
 The Executive Committee NOTED the contents of the report; were 

ASSURED that progress is being made with the children’s SNED 
commissioning agenda; AGREED to receive the final SEND strategic 
commissioning plan for approval with a further progress update in June 
2020.  

 
 
2020/62 Healthcare Procurement Policy 
 
 David Chandler advised the purpose of the report was to request formal 

approval to the extension of the current Healthcare Procurement Policy 
for a further two years. 
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 It was also noted that a number of other policies would be due to expire 
soon and it would be the intention to extend these policies for a further 
12 months.  

  
 The Executive Committee AGREED to formally adopt the Healthcare 

Procurement Policy for a further 2 years. 
 
 
2020/63 Implementation of Compounded Bevacizumab for West AMD at 

STSFT 
  
 Scott Watson provided an update on the work undertaken to prepare 

the use of bevacizumab as a treatment for wet age related macular 
degeneration in Sunderland Eye Infirmary. 

 
 It was noted that work has been undertaken, as a system, in 

preparation for a positive appeal result which had been obtained on 25 
March 2020. 

 
 Compounded bevacizumab is not currently used for wAMD at the Trust, 

however when used, the savings would be significant. 
 
 The Executive Committee NOTED the contents of the report, including 

progress made, risks identified and mitigations in place to manage 
those risks; SUPPORTED continuation of the work and the next steps 
that will be taken. 

 
 
2020/64 Provider Management Group Minutes from 14.11.2019 
 
 The Provider Management Group minutes of the meeting held on 14 

November 2019 were RECEIVED. 
 
 
2020/65 Any Other Business 
 
 There were no items of any other business noted. 
 
 
2020/66 Date and time of next meeting - Tuesday 5 May 2020, 14:00 – 15:00 

p.m. via StarLeaf.  
 
 
 
 
Signed: 
 
Date: 11 May 2020 



 Item: 10.3 

 
SUNDERLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Friday 20 September 2019 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: - 
 
Gillian Gibson (in the Chair) - Director of Public Health  
Councillor Kelly Chequer - Sunderland City Council 
Councillor Louise Farthing - Sunderland City Council 
Councillor Shirley Leadbitter  - Sunderland City Council 
Fiona Brown - Executive Director, Neighbourhoods 
Dr John Dean - Healthwatch Sunderland 
Dave Gallagher - Chief Officer, Sunderland CCG 
Lisa Quinn - NTW NHS Foundation Trust 
Professor Michael Young - University of Sunderland 
   
In Attendance:   
   
Karen Davison - Together for Children 
Graham King - Assistant Director of Adult Services, Sunderland 

City Council 
Peter Sutton - South Tyneside and Sunderland Health Care 

Group 
Penny Davison - Sunderland CCG 
Helen Steadman - Sunderland CCG 
Julie Parker-Walton - Public Health Specialist, Sunderland City 

Council 
Jane Hibberd - Senior Manager, Policy, Sunderland City 

Council 
Jessica May  - Senior Manager, Partnerships, Sunderland City 

Council 
Nicola Appleby - Senior Policy Officer, Sunderland City Council 
Ailsa Rutter - Director of Fresh 
Yusuf Meah - Public Health Practitioner, Sunderland City 

Council 
Chris Binding - Local Democracy Reporting Service 
Gillian Kelly - Governance Services, Sunderland City Council 
 
Gillian Gibson welcomed all those present to the meeting and particularly welcomed 
Professor Michael Young to his first meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
Professor Young emphasised how important health programmes of study were for 
the university and that these made up 50% of all applications. The medical school 
had opened during this week and a donation had been received from Helen McArdle 



Care to the nursing school which would enable a focus on nursing and care moving 
forward. 
 
 
HW14. Apologies 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Walker, Ken Bremner, Jill 
Colbert and Dr Pattison.    
 
 
HW15. Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
HW16. Tobacco Priority Update 
 
The Sunderland Smoke Free Partnership submitted a report providing an update on 
the Tobacco priority work being undertaken within the city.  
 
Ailsa Rutter, Director of Fresh (Smoke Free North East) was in attendance to deliver 
a presentation. Ailsa gave an overview of the background to tobacco control, 
principles and intervention. North East smoking prevalence had reduced from 29% in 
2005 to 16% in 2018 and the vision from North East health and wellbeing boards 
was to reduce this to 5% across the region by 2025. In Sunderland in 2008, adult 
smoking prevalence was 32.4% and it had reduced to 20.2% in 2018. 
 
Smoking remained the leading cause of premature death in the city and for every 
death it was estimated that another 20 people were suffering from serious illnesses 
attributable to smoking. If the current rate of decline in smoking prevalence 
continued, it was possible that the ‘Smokefree Generation’ target would be reached. 
However, smoking-related inequalities were widening and it was unlikely that the 
Government’s aim to reduce smoking in pregnancy to 6% by 2022 would be 
achieved.  
 
The All Party Parliamentary Group on Smoking and Health had developed a report 
on ‘Delivering the vision of a ‘Smokefree Generation’ which focused on what central 
Government could do to deliver the vision as an integral element in an effective 
national prevention strategy. There were a number of recommendations within the 
report including a mandatory levy on the tobacco industry to support costs of tobacco 
control measures and increase the age of sale of tobacco to 21. 
 
Areas which had regional tobacco programmes had some of the biggest levels of 
decline in smoking rates and despite challenging local circumstances, local 
authorities had fought hard to maintain support for smokers. Now was a good 
opportunity to review local strategies in light of the NHS Long Term Plan, Integrated 
Care Systems and the Prevention Green Paper.  
 
Ailsa stated that if 50% of smokers made an annual quit attempt then prevalence 
could be reduced to 5% by 2029. To achieve local prevalence reduction targets the 



key actions would be: to increase the number of quit attempts; to increase the 
success of smokers’ quit attempts and prevent relapse; and reduce uptake. 
 
Yusuf Meah and Julie Parker-Walton went on to talk about the local challenges in 
relation to smoking and tobacco and asked Board members to identify any gaps or 
make suggestions. 
 
Particular areas of challenge were in relation to routine and manual workers, young 
people and adults and smoking in pregnancy. There was a need to get more people 
into services as they were three times more likely to quit smoking if they were 
accessing support. An evidence based approach was used to approach work in the 
city and the CLeaR self-assessment tool had helped to identify key gaps. A first draft 
of a Sunderland Smoke Free Action Plan had been completed and the Board were 
asked to consider what was the ambition for smokers in Sunderland and how 
partners could support this.   
 
Through the JSNA there was intelligence available on the position within the city and 
the assets available. The Annual Lifestyle Survey in 2017 also provided some of the 
information needed to address the challenge and there was data available on quit 
rates at ward level.  
 
Examples of case studies across the country were provided, showing what each 
partner could do to contribute. Questions to be asked were: - 

 What is being done to increase the number of quits? 

 How can you make the most of professional relationships? and 

 How integrated is the tobacco control strategy? 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board was asked to consider how it might influence the 
work being carried out in the city.   
 
Councillor Farthing commented that in the past there had been an issue with children 
copying parents and that she understood that ‘candy sticks’ were still on sale. It was 
also highlighted that the largest displays at Newcastle Airport were for duty free 
tobacco. Councillor Farthing referred to illicit tobacco being on sale in areas with high 
smoking prevalence and whether there might be some joint sweeps carried out by 
Trading Standards and HMRC. 
 
Ailsa stated that illicit tobacco sales were driven by the industry and there was new 
team in Trading Standards which would look at supply and demand; 10% of the 
overall North East market was illicit sales. The UK approach was one of the world’s 
best and tax gaps were monitored on a yearly basis.   
 
Councillor Farthing shared that the Youth Council had spoken about the availability 
of drugs in schools and tobacco reduction needed to be modelled against the 
alternatives which were available. The Youth Council and Change Council group of 
young people in care might be useful groups to talk to moving forward. Julie Parker-
Walton advised that Young Inspectors were working with Trading Standards and the 
Alcohol Free Childhood campaign. 
 



Professor Young asked about the scope of the work and if this included tobacco 
gateway activities such as vaping or cannabis use. Ailsa Rutter said that there was 
currently no evidence of vaping acting as a gateway and Fresh supported the 
position of Public Health England on this. Youth vaping rates were 1-2% and the 
majority of vapers were smokers who were trying to quit. 
 
Julie Parker-Walton highlighted that the specialist stop smoking service would help 
people to quit vaping too and her view was one of the biggest things which could be 
done was to prevent adults from smoking around children.  
 
Regarding manual workers, Councillor Farthing asked if Council workers had been 
targeted. Fiona Brown and Gillian Gibson said that this had was being picked up and 
that the Workplace Health Alliance did look at this area.  
 
The Board were asked to agree to the Tobacco Control Plan being finalised and 
brought back to the Board for approval and it was suggested that something should 
be arranged for all partners to sign up to the plan together. Gillian Gibson added that 
a Health and Wellbeing Board response to the Prevention Green Paper would be 
developed and circulated to Board Members. Individual organisations were also 
encouraged to respond to the consultation. 
 
RESOLVED that the Sunderland Smoke Free Partnership be asked to finalise a 
tobacco control action plan, with associated outcome and process KPIs, and this be 
brought to the December Board meeting for approval. 
 
 
HW17. Minutes and Matters Arising 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 21 June 2019 
and the Action Log were agreed as a correct record.  
 
It was noted that the completed items had been removed from the Action Log. 
 
 
HW18. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 2019/2020 
 
The Director of Public Health submitted a report providing the strategic level 
summary of the health needs across Sunderland and also delivered a presentation 
on working together to improve health. 
 
Gillian Gibson advised that, when looking at the health of Sunderland, the reason 
that averages in the city were worse than the England average was due to health 
inequalities. The presentation looked at what made Sunderland different and what 
was preventable; one in five deaths were considered preventable and alcohol and 
tobacco cost services £200m a year.  
 
Through the 2019/2020 assessment, the following high level challenges were 
identified: - 
 



 Inequalities, both in relation to socio-economic position and protected 
characteristics 

 Poverty and Worklessness 

 Children and Young People 

 Behavioural risk factors 

 Prevention of chronic diseases 

 Ageing population and chronic disease 

 Mental wellbeing 
 
These issues were being taken forward by working groups, with All Together Better 
(ATB) Sunderland and the A&E Delivery Board working on the ageing population 
and chronic disease and the Mental Health Board on mental wellbeing.  
 
Councillor Farthing commented that the Health and Wellbeing Board had reminded 
ATB that children and well as older people needed to be considered and there was a 
need to be careful not to push back on this. Dave Gallagher noted that ATB were 
having discussions with Jill Colbert at the present time. 
 
Fiona Brown highlighted that there was information available down to ward level and 
that the Step Up Sunderland app would help to look at physical inactivity. Councillor 
Farthing acknowledged the disparities within wards and said that local knowledge 
would help to drill down into issues.  
 
Councillor Chequer referred to the partnership with Everyone Active and that access 
to leisure facilities was through them and was being underutilised. She also queried 
how Step Up Sunderland could be moved to the next stage. 
 
Fiona Brown said that there was a need to understand what made people go into 
certain centres and not others, for example Hetton and Houghton were very well 
used. Julie added that in relation the identification of effective interventions, these 
needed to be analysed through different wards. 
 
Having considered the report, it was: - 
 
RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) the findings of the strategic level summary of health needs be noted; 

 
(ii) these findings be taken into account when the commissioning plans of all 

partners were considered; 
 

(iii) these findings be taken into account when developing plans for the 
workstreams identified as Board priorities; and 
 

(iv) the findings be taken into account in the refresh of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy.  

 
 
 
 



HW19. Future of the Children’s Strategic Partnership 
 
The Chief Officer of Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group and the Chief 
Executive of Together for Children submitted a joint report asking the Board to 
consider the future of the Children’s Strategic Partnership and how this aligned to the 
new priorities of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
The Children’s Strategic Partnership had been established in response to the Ofsted 
inspection of 2015 which recommended that the local authority “work(ed) with the 
partners to ensure that there was a single, clear, up to date multi-agency strategic 
plan to shape services for children and young people in Sunderland and against 
which progress (could) be measured”. This group then went on to develop the 
Children and Young People’s Plan which identified six priorities and had an action 
plan to deliver on these priorities. 
 
Dave Gallagher advised that some partnership mapping work had been carried out 
in relation to the 2018/2019 action plan and it was found that the majority of actions 
had been completed and where they had not, they were being taken forward by 
other groups. The one exception to this was the Voice of Children and Young People 
which it was proposed to be managed in other ways with the Health and Wellbeing 
Board being recommended to include a section on engagement with communities 
being provided as part of the update reports from each priority group. Efforts should 
also be made to ensure that children and young people were included in appropriate 
conferences and events. 
 
Dave Gallagher stated that consideration had been given to whether this was the 
right time to disband the Children’s Strategic Partnership and it was acknowledged 
that the partnership had made many positive changes for children and young people 
and had strengthened partnership working. However, it was recognised that officers 
needed to use their time effectively and not duplicate effort. Discussions had taken 
place with other local authorities which were graded good or outstanding for 
Children’s Services and they had more streamlined arrangements with partners.  
 
Councillor Farthing said that she was content that there were other bodies which 
would look at the issues in the action plan but noted that the Children’s Strategic 
Partnership had pulled things together and moved progress on. She did have 
concerns that some partners were slow in picking up early help matters. Karen 
Davison agreed that prevention and early help had received a good push through the 
partnership and was unsure where that would come from now. 
 
The Board RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) it be agreed that the Children’s Strategic Partnership be disbanded and any 

outstanding work picked up by the services and/or partnerships identified in 
Appendix 1 of the report; 
 

(ii) information be requested about engagement work carried out by each of its 
priority groups; and 
 



(iii) it be ensured that children and young people were invited to key city debating 
events, including the State of the City Debate on 29 October 2019 and the 
People’s Powerhouse event on 19 November 2019.  

 
  
HW20. Developing the Healthy City Plan in the context of the Integrated 
  Care Partnerships and Systems and the Better Care Fund  
  Agreement 2019/2020 
 
The Chief Officer of Sunderland CCG and the Executive Director of Neighbourhoods 
at Sunderland City Council submitted a joint report providing an update on the 
progress so far in relation to the development of an Integrated Care System (ICS) 
and Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) in North Cumbria and the North East. The 
report also considered where the focus of the Sunderland Health and Wellbeing 
Board should be in relation to this and provided an update on the proposed 
arrangements for the Better Care Fund for 2019/2020 and how this aligned to All 
Together Better in Sunderland. 
 
Dave Gallagher delivered a PowerPoint presentation and in doing so advised that 
ICS status had now been formally recognised by NHS England and Improvement 
(NHSE/I) and a Memorandum of Understanding would be issued setting out the 
responsibilities of the system. The ICS would provide a mechanism to build 
consensus on those issues which needed to be tackled at scale.  
 
The development of the ICS and four ICPs within it would provide the background for 
the delivery of the NHS Long Term Plan and this would be set out within the ICS 
Five Year Strategic Plan. The focus was on improving health and the six key themes 
would be: - 
 

 Population health and prevention 

 Optimising health services 

 Mental health 

 Learning disabilities and autism 

 Digital care 

 Workforce 
 
There would also be four individual ICP summary plans. Sunderland sat in the 
County Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland ICP and the priorities for the ICP 
were: - 
 

 Shorter planned waits for care, e.g. orthopaedics, cardiology 

 Cancer treatment standards, e.g. Urology 

 Urgent and emergency care, e.g. A&E waiting times 

 Develop robust and sustainable services, e.g. dermatology, breast cancer 
services 

 Priorities for operational efficiencies, e.g. same day emergency care. 
 
Graham King went on to talk about the Better Care Fund (BCF) in the context of the 
emerging ICS and ICPs and the All Together Better Alliance (ATB). The Better Care 



Fund was a programme across the NHS and local government which sought to joint 
up health and care services and the programme ambition was to see strong, 
sustainable local health and care systems.  
 
The mandatory components of the Better Care Fund were a minimum NHS 
contribution of £23.706m, £3.574m Disabled Facilities Grant, £16.567m grant 
allocation for adult social care and £1.568m Winter Pressures grant funding. The 
total minimum Sunderland pot was £45.415m; there was an opportunity to add 
income and expenditure beyond that minimum with an overall pool potential of 
£226.712m. 
 
The Better Care Fund was now aligned with All Together Better to streamline 
governance arrangements and have one programme of reform in the city. The 
proposal was for the BCF schemes to mirror programmes within ATB. There were 
four national metrics for the BCF, namely: - 
 

 Delayed Transfer of Care 

 Non-elective Hospital Admission 

 Admissions to Residential Homes 

 Effectiveness of Reablement Services 
 
The draft template for the BCF was to be submitted by 24 September and this would 
be moderated and assured by 30 October. Approval letters would be issued on 18 
November and S75 agreements should be signed and in place by 15 December 
2019. 
 
The Board were then provided with an update on the progress of ATB. The 
operational plan was now in place and the CCG Governing Body had set out its 
expectations of ATB. All partner organisations were committed to align system 
resource and capacity to support ATB priorities.  
 
Key business cases for improvements in services had been improved, these 
included Dermatology, treatment rooms and wound care hubs and high intensity 
users. A range of other transformation projects were underway with business cases 
in development including social prescribing, pharmacy, podiatry and frailty.  
 
ATB offered a fantastic opportunity to collaborate together to improve the overall 
health and wellbeing of the people of Sunderland and it was keen to develop a 
shared vision for an Integrated Neighbourhood Operating Model which would 
complement Primary Care Networks, Local Neighbourhood Plans, support Clinical 
Directors in their role and align health and social care services around 
neighbourhoods.  
 
The Board therefore RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) the progress within the ICP and ICS and their areas of focus in delivering the 

NHS Long Term Plan be noted; 
 

(ii) the development of a single cohesive plan for all health and social care in 
Sunderland as the Health City Plan be supported; 



 
(iii) the progress by All Together Better be noted; 

 
(iv) the alignment of the Better Care Fund and All Together Better be agreed; 

 
(v) the submission of the initial planning template for the Better Care Fund be 

agreed; and 
 

(vi) the development of a Section 75 agreement by December 2019 to underpin 
the BCF and meet national planning requirements be agreed.  
 

 
HW21. The Path to Excellence 
 
The Board received a presentation from Peter Sutton, Executive Director of Strategy 
and Business Development, South Tyneside and Sunderland Health Care Group, 
providing an update on the Path to Excellence.  
 
In Phase 1 of the programme, changes to Acute Stroke Services were centralised 
permanently from February 2018 and this had resulted in significant improvements in 
care for patients in Sunderland and South Tyneside. The new maternity model had 
been implemented on 5 August 2019 and centralised high risk care in Sunderland 
with a midwifery led birthing centre at South Tyneside. There had been no significant 
issues with the new model and there had been excellent feedback from patients and 
staff.  
 
The new paediatrics model was also implemented on 5 August which saw the 
paediatric emergency department at South Tyneside closing each evening at 
10.00pm and reopening at 8.00am the next day. There had been no significant 
issues with this new model but it would continue to be monitored.  
 
The last six months had been spent sharing the revised Phase 2 case for change 
including draft working ideas for potential changes to services. This was part of a 
period of enhanced pre-consultation engagement but was not a period of formal 
public consultation. 
 
The hospital services involved in Phase 2 were: - 
 

 emergency care and acute medicine 

 emergency surgery and planned operations 

 planned care and outpatients 

 clinical support services 
 
Public and patient engagement would continue throughout the autumn and winter to 
help shape the final scenarios which would be subject to future public consultation. A 
more detailed update on the scenario development process would be given to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board in December 2019. 
 
Fiona Brown commented that improved performance was borne out by data but 
queried whether there were any softer measures such as patient view. Peter stated 



that there was some fantastic information on timings in getting people back home so 
there was soft information supporting the outcomes. Peter also said that there were 
some positive measures in relation to maternity services which could be put out.  
 
Councillor Farthing asked if there was any measure of people taking medication after 
they had a major health incident such as stroke or heart attack. Peter said that this 
was looked at as part of patient activation and patients were asked how likely they 
were to take advice and their medication. 
 
RESOLVED that the progress of the Path to Excellence be noted. 
 
 
HW22. Public Health Campaigns 
 
The Director of Public Health submitted a report setting out information about 
confirmed public health campaigns which would take place during 2019/2020.  
 
The Public Health England social marketing calendar for 2019/2020 was presented 
for the information of Board Members and the planned campaigns from Fresh and 
Balance were also set out within the report. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be received for information. 
 
 
HW23. Health and Wellbeing Forward Plan 
 
The Senior Policy Manager submitted a report informing the Board of the Forward 
Plan of business for 2019/2020. 
 
The forward plan was not fixed for the year and could be changed at any time with 
items being added or removed as circumstances changed and to suit the Board’s 
needs. Members of the Board were encouraged to put forward items for future 
meetings either at Board meetings or by contacting the Council’s policy team. 
 
RESOLVED that the Forward Plan be noted. 
 
 
HW24. Dates and Time of Next Meetings 
 
The Board noted the following schedule of meetings for 2019/2020: -  
 
Friday 13 December 2019 
Friday 20 March 2020 
 
All meetings to start at 12noon. 
 
 
 
(Signed) G GIBSON 
  In the Chair 



 Item: 10.4 

 
SUNDERLAND HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

 

Friday 13 December 2019 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: - 
 
Councillor Geoff Walker (in 
the Chair) 

- Sunderland City Council 

Councillor Kelly Chequer - Sunderland City Council 
Councillor Louise Farthing - Sunderland City Council 
Dr John Dean - Healthwatch Sunderland 
Dave Gallagher - Chief Officer, Sunderland CCG 
Gillian Gibson - Director of Public Health  
Lisa Quinn - NTW NHS Foundation Trust 
Dr Ian Pattison - Chair, Sunderland CCG 
   
In Attendance:   
   
Karen Davison - Together for Children 
Graham King - Assistant Director of Adult Services, Sunderland 

City Council 
Colin Shevills - Director, Balance – the North East Alcohol 

Office 
Sue Brent - University of Sunderland 
Laura Cassidy - Public Health Practitioner, Sunderland City 

Council 
Wendy Mitchell - Public Health Lead, Sunderland City Council  
Julie Parker-Walton - Registered Public Health Specialist, Sunderland 

City Council 
Lorraine Hughes - Public Health Specialist, Sunderland City 

Council 
Jane Hibberd - Senior Manager, Policy, Sunderland City 

Council 
Jessica May  - Senior Manager, Partnerships, Sunderland City 

Council 
Nicola Appleby - Senior Policy Officer, Sunderland City Council 
Liz Highmore - Observer 
Chris Binding - Local Democracy Reporting Service 
Gillian Kelly - Governance Services, Sunderland City Council 
 
 
HW25. Apologies 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Leadbitter, Ken Bremner, 
Professor Young, Fiona Brown and Jill Colbert.     



HW26. Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
HW27. Minutes and Matters Arising 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 20 
September 2019 and the Action Log were agreed as a correct record subject to an 
amendment to the second paragraph on page one to show that it was Helen McArdle 
Care which had donated to the nursing school and that this would enable a focus on 
‘nursing care and research’. 
 
Councillor Farthing referred back to the comments which she had made regarding 
holding partners to account on early help matters and Karen Davison agreed that 
there still did not seem to be a natural home for this area of work. This was an action 
for the Chief Executive of Together for Children, and Dave Gallagher stated that he 
would pick this up with her at a planned one to one meeting. He said that the 
prevention element would not be lost and suggested that a task and finish group may 
be established to look at the recommendations. 
 
Graham King advised that the Better Care Fund submission had been approved by 
NHS England and MHCLG and the Section 75 Agreement had also been completed 
and just required a signature from the CCG and local authority.  
 
Dave Gallagher reported that in relation to the Integrated Care System, the 
Memorandum of Understanding between NHS Partners in the North East and 
Cumbria was now in place and work would take place with wider partners during the 
first quarter of the new year. Graham King commented that there had been a useful 
lead member meeting on this.    
 
It was noted that the completed items had been removed from the Action Log. 
 
 
HW28. Tobacco Priority Update 
 
The Sunderland Smoke Free Partnership submitted a report setting out the eight key 
strands of work which would form the basis of action planning for 2019-2024 along 
with key performance indicators which would be used to measure progress on this 
priority, and a high-level action plan for the year ahead.  
 
The strands of work were: - 
 
1. Development Infrastructure, Skills and Capacity 
2. Reducing Exposure to Second-hand Smoke 
3. Helping smokers to stop 
4. Media, Communications and Education 
5. Reducing the availability and supply of tobacco products; licit and illicit and 

addressing the supply of tobacco to children 
6. Tobacco Regulation 



7. Reducing Tobacco Promotion 
8. Research, monitoring and evaluation 
 
The Sunderland Smokefree Action Plan would focus on specified groups with high 
smoking prevalence and would identify areas across the system to maximise 
opportunities to support local people to stop smoking. A high-level version of the 
action plan was attached to the report.  
 
The Chair noted that there had been discussions about developing a balanced 
scorecard approach to the working group programmes and this would be discussed 
in the April development session. 
 
Councillor Farthing commented that, as a Health Champion, she encouraged people 
to quit smoking but had been talking to one individual who believed that e-cigarettes 
were very bad due to media stories which had been circulating and she felt that 
public bodies were not really counteracting these erroneous messages.  
 
The Chair noted that there had been several press statements from Public Health 
England on e-cigarettes and safety and Julie Parker-Walton stated that Fresh had 
produced some media coverage when certain stories had come out of the USA. Julie 
suggested that she could circulate the press release to the Board Members.  
 
Councillor Farthing said it would be useful to have something which could be shared 
on social media and Gillian Gibson suggested that Public Health work with the 
Communications Team on this. She added that regulation of e-cigarettes was 
different in the United States and the majority of people experiencing health issues 
had been using e-cigarettes to smoke illegal drugs.  
 
Lisa Quinn referred to the action plan and queried if there were any timescales for 
partners to implement smoke free policies and for baseline education on tobacco to 
be delivered in schools. Julie advised that work would have to be done with partners 
to get those timescales in place and then the extra detail could be developed.  
 
Graham King commented that as Neighbourhood Plans developed, there could be a 
discussion around complementing the action plan and making a link to certain wards. 
Dr Pattison added that this was the sort of thing which the Clinical Directors of the 
Primary Care Networks would like to look at and there may be some early 
opportunities to link these together.  
 
The Board therefore RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) the focus of the Sunderland Smokefree Partnership’s work being on the eight 

key strands of work, set out in section 4.2 of the report, be supported; 
 

(ii) the Sunderland Smokefree Partnership action plan be approved; and  
 

(iii) an update be received annually from the Sunderland Smokefree Partnership, 
including progress on the indicators set out in section 3 of the report and key 
actions for the year ahead. 
 



HW29. Membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
The Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board submitted a report asking Members to 
consider expanding the membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
 
During the municipal year, Professor Michael Young had been invited to join the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and it had now been suggested that the Chair of the 
Sunderland Healthy Workplace Alliance also be invited to become a member of the 
Board. The current Chair of the Alliance is Ralph Saelzer, Managing Director of 
Liebherr Works (Sunderland) Ltd.  
 
Councillor Farthing highlighted that ‘anchor organisations’ had been referred to in 
previous reports and suggested that there should be representation from those 
agencies and also place based organisations. 
 
Jane Hibberd advised that the membership of the Board was scheduled for review at 
the next meeting to coincide with the development of the Healthy City Plan. This 
would allow the Board to consider whether they would like other partners to become 
Board Members. 
 
RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) it be formally agreed that the University of Sunderland be a member of the 

Board;  
 

(ii) the Chair of the Sunderland Healthy Workplace Alliance to become a member 
of the Board; and 
 

(iii) the Board notify the Council of its appointments for the Annual Meeting in May 
2020. 

 
 
HW30. Alcohol Harms Priority Update 
 
The Sunderland Alcohol Partnership submitted a report providing a progress  
update: - 
 

 addressing alcohol harms, one of the Board’s seven priorities; 
 research on the positive impact of minimum unit price (MUP) on reducing alcohol 

related deaths, alcohol related crimes and reducing health inequalities; and 

 the draft alcohol action plan. 
 
Colin Shevills, Director, Balance was in attendance to talk to the report and reported 
that in Sunderland, 89 adults died each year due to alcohol consumption and 4,653 
hospital admissions were caused by alcohol. The cost of alcohol to the NHS in 
Sunderland was £20.6m a year. 
 
Minimum Unit Pricing (MUP) was a specifically targeted measure; almost all of the 
cheapest alcohol was consumed by people drinking at harmful levels (90%) and a 
50p MUP locally would prevent 270 deaths over the next 20 years. Half of all deaths 



prevented would be in the north of England and consumption in Sunderland would 
reduce by 9.1%. 
 
MUP had been introduced in Scotland in May 2018 and this had happened smoothly 
with no evidence of commercial level cross border trading and consumption was 
down by 3%. Research into purchasing patterns showed that the heaviest drinkers 
were reducing their consumption the most and there had been reductions in 
alcoholic liver disease.  
 
MUP was being introduced in Wales on 2 March 2020 and Ireland had introduced a 
bill for minimum pricing. The Australian Government were looking at a discussion 
paper on the subject.  Organisational bodies were being asked to call upon the 
Government to introduce MUP at an England level.   
 
Laura Cassidy, Public Health Practitioner delivered a presentation on the Health 
Related Behaviour Survey. This was a self-reported lifestyle survey carried out with a 
sample of children and young people in primary and secondary schools across 
Sunderland and 3,698 young people had been involved in the survey in the 
2018/2019 academic year.  
 
In terms of primary school pupils, 2% of Year 6 students said that they had an 
alcohol drink in the week before the survey. This was a downward trend from 20% in 
2006. 90% said that they never drank alcohol, 8% said that their parents always 
knew if they did and 1% said their parents usually knew.  
 
Turning to the secondary school students, 12% of Year 8 pupils and 26% of Year 10 
pupils said that they had drunk alcohol in the last seven days. 9% of both boys and 
girls in Year 10 said that they had taken an illegal drug and alcohol on the same 
occasion.  
 
46% of pupils in 2019 said that they did not drink alcohol at all compared with 57% in 
2017. 19% in 2019 said that they had an alcoholic drink in the last seven days 
compared with 13% in 2017. This was considerably lower than the 31% who said 
this in 2010.  
 
Drinking prevalence in secondary schools was highest in the Coalfields locality and 
the numbers of pupils drinking 14 units a week or more was also highest in the 
Coalfields. When asked where they got the alcohol from, the majority of respondents 
said their parents or carers gave it to them.  
 
A workshop had taken place in the summer, led by Balance, as part of a wider 
project around a vision for an Alcohol Free Childhood. Eight young people took part 
in the work and discussed what they thought the key challenges might be and how 
these could be tackled. A short film had been made on the project and this was 
shown to the Board Members. 
 
Julie Parker-Walton highlighted that the Alcohol Partnership had held a CLeaR 
workshop in May 2019 and that this had identified good practice across the city. The 
draft alcohol action plan had been developed following this and had been discussed 
at the partnership meeting in October and circulated to key partners for consultation. 



The plan would be finalised in the new year and then brought to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board for approval.  
 
Councillor Chequer commented that she would be happy to lobby the new 
Government on MUP and enquired whether there had been an impact on 
commissioned addiction services. There were a number of people in poverty also 
living with addiction and if they were unable to access services they would continue 
drinking. She was concerned that people were not pushed further into poverty as a 
result. Councillor Chequer noted that admissions in Scotland had gone down which 
she assumed was admissions to acute services but she queried if the numbers of 
people accessing detox services had been looked at.  
 
Gillian Gibson said it was helpful to see that the greatest reduction in drinking had 
been seen in the most deprived drinkers and MUP in Scotland had also impacted on 
the number of children and young people who were drinking. She added that alcohol 
treatment had been strengthened in substance misuse services 
 
John Dean referred to the number of accident and emergency admissions due to 
binge drinking which were seen at weekends and whether there had been any 
impact on this in Scotland. 
 
Colin advised that he had heard nothing from Scotland about increased demand for 
addiction services but he was due to meet with the Chief Executive of Alcohol Focus 
Scotland soon and would ask that question. A comprehensive evaluation package 
was in place in Scotland and the operation of MUP was to be reviewed after five 
years. 
 
It was known that there were a significant number of children and young people 
living with adults who had alcohol use disorders and also that individuals drinking 
over 50 units a week would also be binge drinking, however those statistics had not 
been separated out.  
 
Councillor Farthing commented that the health related behaviour survey indicated 
that some adults were allowing children to drink and the Sunderland Safeguarding 
Children Board had intended to look at some communications on this issue. 
Strategies needed to be aligned on this and it was suggested that schools in the 
Coalfields area could be targeted. Councillor Farthing reiterated the need to lobby 
Government on MUP and the city could not pretend that it did not have a problem 
with alcohol.  
 
Colin stated that Sunderland and the North East in general had been very active in 
lobbying but getting the North West and Yorkshire on board would help the position.  
 
Dr Pattison said that as a clinician dealing with alcohol issues every day, he fully 
supported MUP. He felt that the situation was getting worse, he saw liver disease on 
a daily basis and wider health conditions such as diabetes, cancer, stroke and blood 
pressure issues. His only concern was how long it may take to introduce minimum 
unit pricing. 
 



Councillor Chequer asked if the 50p minimum unit price would rise with inflation in 
order to maintain the impact. Colin said that a lot of the delay was in getting MUP 
approved from a political perspective and the view in Scotland had been to agree the 
principle and then look at the price. A decision would have to be made by 
Government to tie the MUP to the CPI or RPI. Colin also noted that Balance were 
communicating with parents through the ‘What’s the Harm?’ campaign in the region. 
They were also in the process of developing alcohol free schools and alcohol free 
licensing.  
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board had been asked to support the introduction of the 
minimum unit price and it was noted that this could be done cohesively as a region 
but also as individual boards. Dave Gallagher undertook to draft a letter on behalf of 
the Sunderland Health and Wellbeing Board urging the introduction of MUP in 
England. 
 
Having thanked Colin and Laura for their presentations, the Board RESOLVED 
that: - 
 
(i) the update report on the priority addressing alcohol harms be received; 

 
(ii) the introduction of minimum unit price in England be supported and a letter 

sent to Westminster urging that the minimum unit price is introduced without 
delay; and 
 

(iii) the Sunderland Alcohol Partnership be asked to finalise the alcohol action 
plan, with the associated outcome and process KPIs, and to bring the final 
action plan to the March meeting of the Board for approval. 

 
 
HW31. Best Start in Life Priority Update 
 
The Best Start in Life Working Group submitted a report providing a progress update 
on the Board priority including the draft action plan, Best Start in Life area profiles 
and funding and research opportunities. 
 
Lorraine Hughes, Public Health Specialist was in attendance to deliver a 
presentation on the Best Start in Life Profiles. A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA) had been produced and shared with partners for consultation and final 
agreement and a draft action plan had been developed, detailing high level actions 
against ten key priorities: - 
 

 Partners work collaboratively to ensure every child gets the best start in life. 

 Make use of data and intelligence to understand local needs 

 Promote healthy pregnancy messages 

 Improve outcomes for perinatal mental health 

 Reduce the prevalence of alcohol consumption in pregnancy 

 Reduce the prevalence of smoking in pregnancy 

 Promote a culture of breastfeeding 

 Promote health eating for infants and young children 



 Develop multi-agency approaches to meeting the needs of infants and children 
whose parents have vulnerabilities 

 Ensure every child is supported in their development to be school ready 
 
Public Health had developed Best Start in Life area profiles which had provided data 
to support an understanding of health outcomes for pregnancy and early childhood 
at a ward and/or locality level.  
 
The first meeting of the Best Start in Life working group had taken place in 
September 2019 and a bi-monthly schedule of meetings established with a workshop 
planned for May. The Board were advised that the local authority had been 
successful in a bid to participate in the Local Government Association Behavioural 
Insights Programme to support work on breastfeeding.  
 
Councillor Farthing commented that low rates of breastfeeding in the city had often 
been highlighted and queried whether there was a link between this and obesity. She 
suggested that this could also be plotted against the age of the mother at conception. 
It was also noted that Sunderland had fewer people with higher levels of academic 
achievement and Councillor Farthing asked whether there might be a correlation 
between this and age at conception and breastfeeding.  
 
The Chair complimented the working group on the pace which they had set for the 
work and that this also demonstrated how the work of the task groups overlapped.  
 
Lorraine Hughes said that whilst services were not working separately, it was 
important to have them working jointly together, for example, alcohol and teenage 
pregnancy.  
 
John Dean noted that it was good to see information getting down to ward level and 
was pleased to see oral health being one of the indicators. Lorraine highlighted that 
the community dental service operated across a number of areas and that there 
were seven mandated health visitor checks in Sunderland – two more than nationally 
– and one of these was specifically about oral health. Advice on sugar consumption 
was also included as part of this visit. 
 
Gillian Gibson added that the Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee had been 
carrying out a review of oral health and would be reporting to the Cabinet in the near 
future. Councillor Farthing was also pleased to see oral health being targeted and 
queried if the numbers of children being registered to dentists could be checked.  
 
The Board RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) the update report on the priority Best Start in Life be received; and 

 
(ii) the Best Start in Life working group be asked to finalise the action plan and to 

bring this to the March meeting of the Board for approval. 
 

 
 
 



HW32. Director of Public Health’s Annual Report 
 
The Director of Public Health submitted a report presenting the findings of her 
Annual Report to members of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
The full report had not yet been published but would be circulated the following week 
and the Director of Public Health provided an overview of the key themes within the 
report which included: - 
 

 inequalities in health outcomes between Sunderland and the rest of the country 
and within the city itself 

 mental wellbeing 

 good quality employment and healthy workplaces 

 making good food affordable, accessible and appealing. 
 
Matters such as inequalities, prevention and engagement would be picked up in the 
Healthy City Plan. The 2019 report would be published on the Council website and 
circulated to key partners. 
 
RESOLVED that the findings of the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report be 
noted. 
 
 
HW33. Sunderland Winter Plan 2019/2020 
 
The Chief Officer, Sunderland CCG delivered a presentation on the Winter Plan for 
Sunderland 2019/2020.  
 
It was noted that winter funding would be used to ensure safe and quality patient 
care was provided at times of high demand and to contribute to the system achieving 
the ED four hour standard and to test ideas of reform. During September the Surge 
group proposed winter schemes for consideration and were provided with briefs of 
expected collaborative projects with a suggested envelope based on costs with initial 
proposals.  
 
The CCG was providing £2.14m to winter schemes for 2019/20 and there was 
£300,000 additional capacity during the winter period with £365,791 from All 
Together Better (ATB) to date. The schemes were overseen via the Surge group and 
ATB with progress being reported to the A&E Delivery Board.  
 
The summary of the schemes being funded were provided as part of the 
presentation and the winter schemes had been deployed by the end of November. 
The Surge plan would be regularly reviewed and schemes adjusted with a view to 
fully evaluate all schemes to support planning for next year.  
 
System partners recognised that the winter would be difficult but by working together 
were confident that organisations would get through this period by focusing on safe, 
quality services.  
 
 



Having thanked Dave for his presentation, it was: - 
 
RESOLVED that the information be noted.  
 
 
HW34. Sunderland Safeguarding Children’s Board (SSCB) Annual Report 
  2018/2019 
 
Local Safeguarding Board Independent Chairs were required to publish an annual 
report on the effectiveness of child safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 
children in their local area. The Health and Wellbeing Board received the Sunderland 
Safeguarding Children’s Board (SSCB) Annual Report 2018/2019 as a statutory 
requirement under Section 14A of the Children Act 2004.  
 
The annual report noted the achievements of the SSCB which included: - 
 

 The implementation of a Neglect Toolkit in conjunction with the Children’s 
Strategic Partnership to ensure that children impacted on by neglect receive 
assistance to minimise the impact as early as possible. 

 More robust systems around Child Sexual Exploitation leading to assurance that 
the low numbers of young people identified as being at risk are because young 
people are safe, rather than simply a change of reporting. 

 Early help is now well embedded with support from partners increasing and the 
value of partnership working being valued more and more.  

 
The SSCB had identified a number of areas as service priorities for the coming year 
which included Vulnerable Adolescents, Neglect and Poverty and Compromised 
Parenting. These areas presented the greatest risk to the safety of children and 
young people if process, practice and partnership working were not strengthened.  
 
The annual report would be the last in its current form as local safeguarding boards 
had ceased to exist from 29 September 2019 and the Sunderland Safeguarding 
Partnership had replaced the SSCB in August. The safeguarding partners were 
required to publish a report at least once in every twelve month period. 
 
The Board RESOLVED that the content of the report be noted and it be accepted as 
assurance of the current effectiveness of the local safeguarding children 
arrangements.  
 
 
HW35. Sunderland Safeguarding Adults Board (SSAB) Annual Report  
  2018/2019 
 
The Care Act requires the Independent Chair of the Safeguarding Adults Board to 
give an annual account of the work of the Board.  
 
The work of the SSAB was focused on four strategic priorities, identified in the 
Strategic Delivery Plan 2019-2024: - 
 
 



 Prevention 

 Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP)/User Engagement 

 Partnership (including regional collaboration) 

 Key local areas of risk (self-neglect, mental capacity and exploitation) 
 
The report highlighted significant progress against the Board’s strategic priorities and 
provide detail of the future direction of travel for the Board. It was noted that there 
really was a multi-agency approach to adult safeguarding in Sunderland and a strong 
commitment to partnership working to achieve the Board’s priorities.  
 
RESOLVED that the Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2018/2019 be 
received and noted. 
 
 
HW36. Healthy Economy Priority Update 
 
The Board received an update on the progress being made against the Healthy 
Economy Priority. 
 
The working group was focused on three work strands: - 
 
1) Workplace Health: employers’ role in improving employee’s health 
2) Healthy labour-force: the health of those in work and seeking work 
3) Employment in the health and social care sector: understanding and tackling 

recruitment issues and wider workforce opportunities. 
 
The report set out the activity taking place in each of the work strands for the 
information of the Health and Wellbeing Board and provided the draft action plan 
which had been developed by the Working Group. 
 
RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) the progress update on the three strands of the Health Economy priority be 

received; and 
 

(ii) the Healthy Economy Working Group be asked to bring finalised action plans 
and performance measures to a future meeting of the Board.  

 
 
HW37. Shaping Sunderland’s Future Together – Statement of Intent:  
  Integrated Strategic Commissioning for 0-25 year olds in  
  Sunderland 
 
The Chief Officer, Sunderland CCG and the Chief Executive of Together for Children 
submitted a report presenting for information the ‘Shaping Sunderland’s Future 
Together – Statement of intent: integrated strategic commissioning for 0-25 year olds 
in Sunderland’. 
 
The children’s integrated commissioning function was established in July 2019, 
initially for twelve months to test out ways of working across Sunderland CCG and 



Together for Children. Shaping Sunderland’s Future Together sets out a high level 
plan as to how the two organisations will deliver an integrated commissioning 
function for 0-25 year olds in Sunderland. The document sets out key terms, 
principles, aspirations and the current priorities of the Children’s Integrated 
Commissioning Group: mental health; Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
(SEND); and individual placements. 
 
The statement of intent reflects the current point in time and it is anticipated that 
there will be future iterations of the document with a full review in summer 2020.  
 
RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) the Shaping Sunderland’s Future Together – Statement of intent: integrated 

strategic commissioning for 0-25 year olds in Sunderland; and 
 

(ii) a future report to be presented to the Board on the impact of the pilot. 
 
 
HW38. 2019/2020 Process to Refresh the Children and Young People’s 
  Mental Health and Wellbeing Transformational Plan 2015-2020 
  
The Chief Officer, Sunderland CCG submitted a report setting out the proposed 
approach to refreshing the Children and Young People’s Transformational Plan 
2015-2020. 
 
For this year’s refresh of the plan, NHS England have announced that they will 
download a copy of each local plan on 31 March 2020 and they will carry out a 
review against their Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOE). 
 
Since the plan was now in the final year of its delivery it was proposed that for the 
refresh, the Executive Summary which had been produced for 2019 refresh be 
updated and that no changes be made to the main body of the existing plan. The 
proposed process and the plan would require sign off from the Integrated 
Commissioning Group, the CCG Executive Committee and the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. 
 
The proposed process and timescales were set out within the report and it was 
envisaged that this would be the final refresh of the Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health and Wellbeing Transformational Plan 2015-2020. NHS England had 
indicated that they would require a new five year plan in 2020.  
 
Councillor Farthing commented that the plan referred to NHS England’s concern 
over waiting times for mental health treatment and that it was important that the local 
situation was not overridden. Dave Gallagher advised that certain elements had to 
be within the plan but the local position was reflected too. Partners were aware of the 
challenges in relation to access to services and waiting times and waiting lists were 
increasing despite the efforts of all agencies involved. It was noted that an 
overarching strategic plan on Mental Health and Wellbeing was needed for 
Sunderland and it was hoped to have this drafted by the end of March 2020.  
 



RESOLVED that the proposed approach to the annual refresh of the Children and 
Young People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Transformational Plan 2015-2020 as 
set out in the paper be noted. 
 
 
HW39. Health and Wellbeing Forward Plan 
 
The Senior Policy Manager submitted a report informing the Board of the Forward 
Plan of business for 2019/2020. 
 
Members of the Board were encouraged to put forward items for future meetings 
either at Board meetings or by contacting the Council’s policy team. 
 
RESOLVED that the Forward Plan be noted. 
 
 
HW40. Dates and Time of Next Meetings 
 
The Board noted that the next meeting would take place on Friday 20 March 2020 at 
9.30am. 
 
The next Board development session would take place on Monday 3 February 2020 
at 12.00pm – 4.00pm. 
 
 
 
 
(Signed) G WALKER 
  In the Chair 
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CO1: Ensure the CCG meets its public accountability duties  

CO2:  Maintain financial control and performance targets  

CO3: Maintain and improve the quality and safety of CCG commissioned services  

CO4: Ensure the CCG involves patients and the public in commissioning and reforming  
services  

 

CO5: Identify and deliver the CCG’s strategic priorities  

CO6: Develop the CCG localities  

CO7: Integrating health and social care services, including the Better Care Fund  

CO8:  Develop and deliver primary medical care commissioning  
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NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012) 
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Chief Officer’s Report 
19 May 2020 

 
 
1. Introduction 

 
I am delighted to announce that as from 1 April 2020, I become the Accountable 

Officer for Sunderland CCG, as well as Durham and South Tyneside CCGs.  This 

is an exciting opportunity to work across all 3 CCGs and I very much look forward 

to building on the established success of the CCG in Sunderland as well as 

supporting collaboration across the health care system with our ICP partners.   

 

This is my first report for the Sunderland Governing Body and I hope members 

find my update useful.   

 

2. CCG Covid Response and Recovery 

 

2.1 Over the last 2 months, the CCG has managed its response to Covid through 

robust business continuity plans to support the NHS response in Sunderland and 

the wider health care system.  A significant amount of work was done by the 

CCG staff to ensure we could support our partners across the City as well as 

maintain the CCG’s core functions under very different working arrangements 

and possibly different organisations for those who were redeployed across the 

health sector.  I would like to thank everyone involved for their hard work during 

this period of time. 

 

2.2 As we move into the recovery phase, the CCG is focussing on returning to the 

‘new normal’ and working on a detailed recovery framework to link and 
coordinate across all parts of the health care system (in-hospital, out of hospital 

and prevention) as well as the CCG as a corporate entity.   We have had to 

achieve a number of key outcomes and service transformations through adopting 

a new approach to business and to decision-making and we want to review, learn 

and improve on these in the coming months in partnership with stakeholders and 

members of the public.  I will be providing updates on a regular basis via this 

report as well as more detailed reports as agenda items.   

 

3. Integrated Care System Update - meeting held on Friday 24 April 2020 

 

3.1 Paul Hanson, Chief Executive, North Tyneside Council and Chair of Northern 

Local Resilience Forum (LRF), provided a summary of the function, membership 
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and the broad remit of the LRF.  Currently there is no political oversight of the 

LRF which could become an issue if the current situation continues as expected 

for many months. 

 

3.2 An update concerning Covid-19 testing was provided.  Capacity was at 2,500 

tests per day, although only 1,500 tests were being carried out.  Care home 

testing performance was variable, however, starting across the ICS all areas 

have reaffirmed that community services will provide testing into care homes.  

Some views were expressed that communication needed to be strengthened 

between Government announcements and the local areas delivering tests. 

 

3.3 The supply of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) was discussed.  Whilst the 

position remained fragile, on a positive note there was a report of local 

production and stocks of PPE and essential medical equipment.  The ICS was 

engaging with the national team to streamline their process with local ordering 

and production availability. 

 

3.4 An update was provided covering the approach to ‘recovery’ and ‘restoration’ of 
NHS performance and services.  Communication was expected providing an 

outline of the national expectation of health services provision during the next 

phase of the Coronavirus pandemic; it was hoped that it would allow local 

flexibility to focus on principles, priorities and frameworks.  It was acknowledged 

that consideration would need to be given to prepare for any future measures 

required to manage the continued risk. 

 

3.5 Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs) reflected a similar approach to phasing of 

acute services, managing demand in primary care and harnessing innovation.  

The range of video conferencing systems in use across the ICS will be reviewed 

to determine the level of variation and explore if regional consistency could be 

achieved without delaying transformation of service delivery. 

 

3.6 It was reported that since the Covid-19 virus had presented there has been a 

70% reduction in 2 week wait referrals per week.  Performance exceptions and 

stepping-up activity alongside access risks and PPE availability were considered. 

 

3.7 An update in relation to the financial position was received.  The key message 

out of the detailed report was that the position in the ICS had improved. 

 

 

4. Court of Appeal judgement - NHS Avastin choice policy for Wet AMD 

patients 

 

4.1 I am pleased to report that on 25 March the Court of Appeal dismissed an appeal 

by pharmaceutical companies Bayer and Novartis to challenge a policy adopted 
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by North East and North Cumbria CCGS recommending that NHS clinicians 

should offer patients a choice between 2 licensed medicines for the treatment of 

wet age-related macular degeneration (marketed by Bayer and Novartis) and a 

much cheaper drug.  Whilst there is the option for an application to the Supreme 

Court the legal advice is that it would be unlikely to be granted given the current 

circumstances. 

 

 

4.2 The judgment sets out how the CCGs’ choice policy can be legally implemented 
(if an individual prior prescription system is in place) via three different modes: 

‘original vial use’ where a small amount of Avastin is drawn out of a larger vial 
with the rest discarded; in-house compounding within NHS hospital pharmacies; 

and supply of compounded Avastin between NHS hospital pharmacies.  In a 

significant ruling the judgment also stated that “nor is it contrary to GMC 
guidance for clinicians to recommend [Avastin] to patients in preference to 

Lucentis or Eylea even though that the preference may be based on cost 

considerations”. 
 

4.3 The savings potential remains significant – estimated at over £10m per year 

across our Integrated Care System area if a majority of new wet AMD patients 

chose to be treated with Avastin. 

 

4.4 Further information is available on the judgment and a summary by our legal 

team.   

 
 
5. Simon Stevens led discussion with North East and Yorkshire Leaders held 

on 1 May 2020 

 

5.1 There is an expectation that community health services will encounter a surge in 

demand as it enters the recovery phase.  Demand and capacity planning will 

need to be looked at to manage this surge and will require local judgement to 

determine how services should be brought back on-line. 

 

5.2 Discussion explored some benefits that had been identified through new ways of 

working in areas such as patient flow and also enhancements in areas such as 

care home support, CCG infection control support to care homes and enhanced 

GP support. 

 

5.3 It was reported that a test and trace strategy was under development with a quick 

implementation phase, this would link into local Departments for Public Health. 

 

5.4 There was an emphasis on ensuring that all offers of returning practitioners are 

placed. 

https://www.judiciary.uk/judgments/bayer-v-nhs-darlington-others/
https://www.landmarkchambers.co.uk/court-of-appeal-upholds-lawfulness-of-nhs-avastin-choice-policy-for-wet-amd-patients/
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5.5 The view was that there had been an excellent response to the first phase in 

managing the impact of the Coronavirus but an expectation that managing the 

second phase will be more complex. 

 

5.6 Amanda Pritchard reported that the ‘Level 4 Incident’ status would remain in 
place for the next 4 to 6 weeks.  The focus will be maintained in the areas of 

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) supply, infection control and testing and 

tracing.  It was recognised that staff are working under significant pressure and it 

would be important to continue to undertake staff risk assessments.  Other areas 

that were highlighted in the discussion included maintaining safety, a learning 

culture and locking-in any beneficial changes. 

 

5.7 Stephen Powis reported that there was an increased understanding about 

disease progression but it required further analysis.  Other points that were 

covered included: (a) there were fewer patients on the ward at the Nightingale 

Hospital based at the ExCel Centre in London and more patients were on Non-

invasive ventilation (NIV), (b) the increased understanding about unusual 

presentations and (c) national issues linked to anaesthetic drugs and renal 

replacement therapy.  It was reported that staff testing work was being 

progressed for screening if asymptomatic. 

 

5.8 Julian Kelly led a general finance discussion but without any specific detail. 

 
 
6. NHS Nightingale Hospital North East  

 

6.1 NHS Nightingale Hospital North East was officially opened on Tuesday 5 May by 

HRH The Countess of Wessex.  She was joined by Secretary of State for Health, 

Matt Hancock; Chief Executive of the NHS, Sir Simon Stevens; and local 

celebrities Ant McPartlin and Declan Donnelly. The opening was held via video 

link, in line with social distancing rules, with live streaming to key sites. 

  
6.2 The temporary hospital is based in Washington will be able to provide up to 460 

ventilated beds for patients from across the region with Covid should local 

services require them.  The new facility is one of seven Nightingale hospitals to 

be set up around the country as part of a massive NHS effort to respond to the 

greatest global health emergency in more than a century. 

 

While new infections are currently decreasing, the Nightingale hospitals will 

remain in place initially in case of a new peak, and beyond that to help local NHS 

services plan to bring back non-urgent services such as routine operations. 
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I would like to thank all the NHS teams, construction contractors, civic partners 

and the Army who pulled together in an unprecedented effort to build the 

temporary hospital, which will be staffed as part of its collaborations with trusts 

from across the region.   

 
7. Covid Staff Testing 

 

7.1 Following the Government announcement to increase testing capacity and that 

more people have been made eligible, a range of locations are now available to 

people in the North East, including Sunderland.    

 

7.2 Testing sites can be accessed by anyone who is an eligible essential worker, 

including health and social care staff only (including the independent and 

voluntary sectors).  Testing is available for:  

 all eligible essential workers,  

 anyone over 65 with symptoms  

 anyone with symptoms whose work cannot be done from home (for 

example, construction workers, shop workers, emergency plumbers and 

delivery drivers)  

 anyone who has symptoms of coronavirus that lives with those identified 

above  

 

7.4 NHS Trusts’ staff are asked to continue to access testing through their own 

Trusts to enable quick, efficient testing without putting pressure on other 

national testing streams aimed at other key care workers.  

 

7.5 The GOV.UK process allows a range of employer organisations with eligible 

key workers to submit lists of their employees who are self-isolating and are 

linked to identified critical functions, directly onto a national portal and facilitate 

access to on-line booking.  

 

7.6 Locally agreed arrangements are now in place to test primary care staff and 

residential or nursing home settings in Sunderland.  For residential or nursing 

residents, if it is an initial outbreak, the home is supported by the North East 

Health Protection Team (HPT) who will arrange for postal swabs to be sent to 

the home for care staff to test symptomatic residents.  

 

7.7 All other non-health and social care essential worker groups can access testing 

via the Government’s online self-referral portal. 
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8. NHS ‘Open for Business’ campaign  
 

8.1 The CCG is supporting the NHS ‘Open for Business’ campaign which is being run 

across the North East CGGs and its partners and urges people not to delay treatment for 

their health conditions as well as sharing messages about how services have changed. 

The CCG is promoting localised news releases and highlighting good news stories and 

new ways of working to show that despite the restrictions and social distancing 

measures, NHS services are still running and help is available.  

 

8.2 Dr Mark Dornan of Newcastle Gateshead CCG was featured in a region wide ICS 

release which gained significant coverage, while Dr Jim Gordon of South Tyneside 

appeared on Tyne Tees News. A short video featuring Mark is available for use across 

the region. 

 

 

9. Health and Wellbeing Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) 
 
9.1 Due to the Covid pandemic and the need to adhere to social distancing 

guidelines, the Health and Wellbeing Overview Scrutiny was unable to hold its 
meeting in April. 

 
9.2 The papers from the meeting held on 11 March 2020 can be found here  

 
9.3 The CCG provided an update on the progress of the delivery of the urgent care 

strategy and reform programme in Sunderland. The key points to note were: 

 Recovery at Home (RaH) Service – the service continues to provide a 24/7 

Nurse and GP home visiting across the city with no significant issues reported. 

The service continues to provide patient care in their own home avoiding 

hospital admission 

 Sunderland Extended Access Service (SEAS) -  the full SEAS service has 

successfully been in place from the 1 August 2019 with the addition of minor 

injury provision within Houghton and Washington sites.  Service utilisation rates 

are regularly monitored to review utilisation across the five hubs including minor 

injuries 

 Radiography - to support minor injury provision at Houghton and 

Washington hubs, radiographers have been available at both sites from 

August 2019.  However the low demand for x-ray during this period has 

resulted in 80% underutilisation of radiology capacity at Houghton and 89% 

at Washington.  Based on these findings, All Together Better approved for 

this resource to be delivered across a number of services within the 

Sunderland system to make better use of the radiology resource. 

 
10. A&E Delivery 

 

10.1 Over the last two months hospitals and systems across the country have been 

under significant pressure, including Sunderland Royal Hospital. Every effort 

https://www.sunderland.gov.uk/committees/cmis5/Meetings/tabid/73/ctl/ViewMeetingPublic/mid/410/Meeting/10017/Committee/1979/Default.aspx
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is being made to alleviate this pressure as a whole system through the A&E 

delivery board, Surge Group and programme 4 of All Together Better. 

 

10.2 A summary of the work underway for the A&E Delivery Board in Sunderland is 

as follows:  

 Renal Pathways: a review of the impact of COVID on renal pathways is 

underway as only a few trusts in the region are able to treat renal COVID 

patients.  A plan is in development to treat these patients and links with the 

critical care network have been made to treat this cohort of patients.   

 A&E 4 hour standard:  South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation 

Trust has seen an improvement in the figures for this.  There has been a 

significant reduction in activity in Sunderland in the Emergency Department, 

Eye Infirmary and Urgent Treatment Centre, however not all activity has 

reduced (e.g. ambulance demand) and work is underway to review this. 

 PPE and Care Homes: the issue of the lack of PPE across the system and 

care homes is being addressed.  A care home capacity tracker is now being 

implemented to review capacity within communities 

 Covid Recovery:   ICP and ICS discussions are underway around the 

recovery phase and preparations are being made for what the new normal 

will need to look like. 

 Mental Health: higher levels of acuity are being seen in South Tyneside and 

Sunderland areas.  Work is underway to address this as well as a potential 

further increase in mental health presentations for EDs in the coming weeks 

post-Covid and as an impact of the lockdown. 

 

10.3 The aim of the next meeting will be to review processes and innovations in 

Sunderland from the previous six weeks to collate information to share across 

the health and social care on positive transformation work as a result of Covid. 

 

 

11. Integrated Assurance Committee  
 

11.1 The situation concerning the current Covid pandemic and the national guidance 

on how NHS organisations need to respond continues to change rapidly.  As a 

result the CCG needed to adapt its internal decision-making processes to ensure 

it can continue to respond appropriately and effectively.  

 

11.2 The CCG utilised its emergency powers and provisions for urgent decisions as 

set out in its Constitution to make temporary changes to its governance structure 

to facilitate decision-making and maintain a robust hold on statutory and 

essential functions.  This temporary change has enabled the CCG to manage its 

capacity during the pandemic response whilst maintaining robust assurance 

processes as part of a streamlined governance structure.  
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11.4  The Quality and Safety, Primary Care Commissioning and Patient and Public 

Involvement Committees have been temporarily combined into one Integrated 

Assurance Committee (IAC) for the period April – June.  The membership has 

been derived from the minimum qoruacy of each committee to enable essential 

business to continue during the pandemic. 

 

11.5 The IAC has now met twice and focussed on key items for quality and safety 

(such as safeguarding, PPE and care homes); primary care commissioning (such 

as workforce implications, GP retention scheme and business developments); 

and patient and public involvement (such as patient feedback, involvement 

activities, campaigns and future engagement techniques).   

 

11.6 The Committee will meet again in June and following which a review will be 

undertaken to identify whether this approach needs to continue as part of the 

Covid recovery phase.  

 
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 

Accountable Officer 

 

13 May 2020 
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Northern CCG Joint Committee 
 

9 January 2020 /2.00 – 2.40pm / The Durham Centre 
 

Part 1 - Meeting held in public 
 

Present 
 

CCG members 

Joe Corrigan JC NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 

David Gallagher DG NHS Sunderland CCG 

Caroline Gitsham CG NHS South Tees CCG 

David Hambleton DH NHS South Tyneside 

David Jones DJ NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG 

Neil O’Brien NO’B NHS Darlington CCG 
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton CCG 
NHS North Durham CCG 
NHS South Tees CCG 

Charles Parker CP NHS Hambleton, Richmond and Whitby CCG 

Boleslaw Posmyk BP NHS Darlington CCG 
NHS Hartlepool and Stockton CCG 

Jon Rush (Chair) JR NHS North Cumbria CCG 

Richard Scott RS NHS North Tyneside CCG 

Jonathan Smith JS NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG 

Graham Syers GS NHS Northumberland CCG 

Matthew Walmsley MW NHS South Tyneside CCG 

 

Lay members (non-voting) 

Feisal Jassat FJ 

Ken Readshaw KR 
 

In attendance 

Stephen Childs SC North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) 

Gayle Dolan GD Public Health England 

Penny Gray PG NHS England and NHS Improvement 

Dan Jackson DJ NHS Sunderland CCG 

Mark McGivern MMcG Public Health England 

Gillian Stanger GSt North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) 
 

 

Minutes Action 

01  Welcome, apologies and declarations of conflicts of interest in relation to the agenda  

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and introductions were made. 
 

Apologies were received from Mark Adams (NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG, Northumberland 
CCG and North Tyneside CCG), Jon Connolly (North Tyneside CCG), Mark Dornan (Newcastle 
Gateshead CCG), Ian Pattison (Sunderland CCG) and David Rogers (North Cumbria CCG) 
 
The Committee’s register of Interests was received.  
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02 Minutes and action log of previous meeting (7 November 2019)  

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 2019 were accepted as an accurate record. 
 

The action log was updated. 
 

 
 
 
 

03 Matters arising from the previous meeting (and action log)  

03.1 Governance update  
 
(a) Lay members 
           The Chair noted that both Feisal Jassat and Ken Readshaw would be standing down as lay 

members of the Committee. On behalf of the Committee, he thanked them both for their 
support and work over the last two years. 

  
            Action: Chair and GSt to set up an appropriate selection process for the 

appointment of two new lay members. 
 
(b) Chair 

The Chair informed the Committee that his position as Chair of North Cumbria CCG is 
currently under review as it expires at the end March. This could impact on his role as 
Chair of the Committee. He may be in a better position to update the Committee by the 
March meeting. 

            
Decision: The role of Chair of the Joint Committee would be considered at the 
March meeting. 
 

(c) Terms of Reference 
There was a brief discussion about the various structural changes in CCG’s that would    
need to be reflected in the TOR. 
 
Decision: A revised TOR would be considered at the March meeting  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair/G
St 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair/G
St 
 
 
 
 
 
Chair/G
St 

04 Use of antivirals for flu prophylaxis and treatment   

The Committee discussed the paper which noted that CCGs had been asked to review their 
position on the use of antivirals for flu prophylaxis and treatment and reach a consensus position. 
CCG Accountable officers had asked their respective medical directors to review this with a view 
to reaching agreement across North East North Cumbria (NENC). The Committee noted the 
following: 
 

- Whether CCGs would want to commission a separate service or whether this is seen 
within the core general practice function.  

- The lack of a clear evidence base 
- The difference between ‘in season’ and ‘out of season’ and the NICE guidance which 

suggests the use of antivirals for prophylaxis where there is an outbreak of flu in care 
homes. In season the Chief Medical Officer declares the start of the flu season and 
antivirals can be prescribed using P10 prescription but this is not done consistently as GPs 
have different views as to whether this is within their remit. Outside flu season antivirals 
cannot be prescribed using a P10 prescription. They can, however, still be prescribed as 
they are in the British National Formulary (BNF) but community pharmacies will not 
dispense them. 

- Issues relating to the stock of antivirals (insufficient to cover an entire care home) 
- Issues relating to out-of-hours response – Newcastle Gateshead CCG had agreed a 

pragmatic solution to this issue and used out of hours providers GATDOC and Vocare to 
provide this service both in and out of hours as part of its wider support for primary care in 
dealing with winter pressures. It was noted that these services have already been 
mobilised due to a number of outbreaks in care homes and that the response had worked 
effectively. It was the intention of the CCG to continue with the service in-season. 
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Northumberland CCG had also agreed to use Vocare. 
- Evidence relating to a reduction in the numbers of days of symptoms relating to the use of 

antiviral treatment in vulnerable populations but the belief that this is not a compelling 
efficacy argument 

- North Yorkshire’s stance that it would not provide an out-of-hours service which was 
supported by the Local Medical Committee 

- Implications of commissioning a service – access, safe prescribing, consent etc. 
- Last year’s collective decision not to commission the service, albeit it was for GPs to 

decide whether they would prescribe antivirals 
- The use of a drug whose efficacy is questionable with adverse side effects 
- Whether it would be possible to develop a pragmatic joint decision making tool which says 

we will make every effort to discuss with our patients whether this drug is right for them 
and a solution to out-of-hours providers 

- North Cumbria’s point that access to antiviral prophylaxis or treatment through 
implementation would be the plan rather than the emergency plan 

- The possibility of developing a decision making tool and evidence in order to give 
prescribers the ability to prescribe, recognising where there may be variation within a 
single care home which could be a challenge as to where responsibility lay. 

- The unexpected workload on primary care whose perception was that this was a public 
health issue 

- The point that enhanced care home would be in the Primary Care Network (PCN) 
specification for next year and whether there would be an opportunity to reach a collective 
approach through that mechanism 

- The point that if this was the right thing to do for patients and we were invested in 
supporting primary care in the event of surge, then how it should be resourced, 
recognising the pragmatic solution reached by some CCGs using out of hours providers as 
described above 

 
The Chair summarised and noted 
 

- The limited evidence base for efficacy 
- This is a commissioned service that we do already via General Practice to prescribe  in 

hours in normal flu season and there was no appetite to commission a new service on the 
basis that prophylaxis is prescribed for other things 

- It was for individual clinicians and practices based on their training and expertise to make 
that decision to prescribe in hours in normal flu season 

 
The Committee then considered next steps: 
 
Decision:  

(i) To support CCG medical directors in working with public health colleagues to 
develop a population health perspective decision tool that will support 
prescribers in the use of anti-viral on an individual patient basis within the 
context of a care home outbreak in season out of hours and in line with NICE 
recommendations. When this is completed and approved by the CCGs it will 
then sit alongside the local plans. 

 
(ii) To ask CCG medical directors to look at arrangements to support primary care 

out of season 
-   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DG to co-
ordinate 
response 
to (i) and 
(ii) 

05 Questions from members of the public relating to specific items on the agenda  

There were no members of the public present at the meeting.  
 

06  Any Other Business  

There was no other business.  
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Representatives of the press and other members of the public were excluded from part 2 of this 

meeting having regard to the confidential nature of the business to be transacted, publicity on which 

would be prejudicial to the public interest (Section 1 (2)) Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 

1960 

Date and time of next meeting: 
 

Thursday 12th March 2020 
2.00pm 

The Durham Centre 

 


